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THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20301

15 June 1981

MEMORANDUM FOR THE RECORD

Subject: Interview with Mr. Donald Carpenter

On 12-13 June 1981 I visited and interviewed Mr. Domald Carpenter
at his home on Hillendale Road, Mendenhall, Pennsylvania, at which
time he delivered into my temporary custody his personal copy of his
"Confidential Recollections of Washington, 1947-1949." I subsequently

took his copy to Washington and Xeroxed it for inclusion in the OSD
History files.

During my interview with Mr. Carpenter, I asked how and why he
came to write his "Recollections." HBe explained that while he was
working in Washington in the late 1940s, he happened to be meeting
one day with Forrestal and Al Gruenther, Director of the Joint Staff.
Carpenter was not explicit on when the meeting took place, but said
that 1t was not long after someone in the Air Force
had published his World War II memoirs, which lauded the role of
alr power in winning the war. The Navy was in an upr ..o Forrestal,
much distressed by the situation, elicited agreement Gruenther
and Carpenter wouldi‘ever write memoirs because they only caused
trouble. Some years later, however, after Forrestal's death, his
private "diaries" were published. Carpenter said that at the time
the diaries appeared, he felt that Forrestal had gone back on his
word. He was not aware at the time, he sald, that Porrestal's family
had arranged for publication without Forrestal's prior permission.

A few years after that, Carpenter was visiting some friends who
kept dogs. One of the dogs gave him a severe bite on the leg, almost
severing a nerve. A vigorous tennis player at the time, Carpenter
found himself laid up in the hospital for months. He said it was
a year before he recuperated. During this time, he decided he would
write his recollections.

There are at present two other copies of the "Confidential Recol-
lections"-~the ribbon copy, which Mr. Carpenter deposited at the
Eleutherian Mills Historical Library, Greenville, Delaware; and
another Xerox copy at the Truman Library in Independence, Missouri.

At the time of our meeting in 1981, Mr. Carpenter did not feel the
existence of his "Recollections" should be known generally. Our
agreement at that time was that I could copy them and cite them as
part of my interview. Hence, they form an integral part of the inter-
view, but may not be referred to directly.
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It's now more than eight years since I first went to
Washington in a so-called "official capacity.” I've thought |
it might be well to make notes of some of the interesting exXper-.

iences. I had but have hesitated to do so for several reasons,

. 'rhey were not mrticularly unusual or interesting, many of them

were highly "classified®, "secrst" or "top secret", and I didn't
mint;to start on such a task because recalling the past invara.
iably makes one's mind dwell on the past rather than on the more
important present and future.

Novertholcés. here I am on vacation at West Chop, Massa.
chﬁutta. Ah injury pravents me from playing as much tennis as
I'a 1&. so maybe th:ls. is as good a time as any, and time has }d:ls-
posed of most secrats, Even the "H bomb" which we fiever mentioned

except in the "'boam of our atomic family" 1is now a byword through-

.. _out the world.

Secretary Forrestal on one occasion suggested to a few of us
that so many prominent officials had written memoirs about the war

that it might be as well if we didn't. 'Well, his diary has been

- published and I don't propose to publish these,so jotting down a

2
few items for my own satisfaction and for immediate family and

- friends can't be considered a violation of his suggestion, So

here goes!

In the late summer or early fall of 1947 I was, by request,
attendiug a westing of the Board of Directors of Remington Arms
Company. During the meeting F‘:'oq“negq, the Secretary, told me I
had a telephone call. It wis Ad‘i&ral Lewis Strauss who, by way of

introduction, told me we had ﬁet iﬁ c'nnhedtion with aome U.S.Rubber

PN e e
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‘\ He was calling to ask 1f I would attend a meeting of sm§
- sort of industrial group to advise the Atomic Energy Commission,

o _ He hastily touched on the nature of the group and the members.
All I could gather was that it seemed a bit vague but that tha
nembership sounded like an industrial "WHO'S WHO,"
While he held the line, I asked the advice of the Board
and as a result told Strauss I'd attend the meeting but without
any commitment that I would become a member of the group.
That night, much to my surprise, the radio carried a story
that Dave Lilienthal had appointed an "Industrial Advisory Group*®
to the Atomic Energy Commission and among others I was to be a
- member.,
' As ] sat in the roof restaurant of the Hotel Washington a
‘\ .- fow days later looking over the city, which had been in such a ture
moil;'during the war but which had apparently returned to normal, 1
wondered if this meeting which I was about to attend would be just
an interesting contact or whether it would be a highly significant
| milestone, It proved to be the latter,

" At the meeting were Dr, Oliver Buckley, President of Bell
Laboratories; Dr. R, E. Wilson, President of Standard 0il of Ind-
fam; Dr. Gustav Egloff, Vice President - Director of Research.
‘Universal 0il Products Companyj James Parker; President of Detroit

. Ed:lson, ¥ho was chairman of the groupj; Walker Cissler, Vice Pres.
of Detroit Edison, secretary of the group; Dw:fav) Foote o Vice Pres..
in charge of Research of Gulf 0il Company; Isaac Harter, Vice Pres.
_ of Babcock & Wilcox Tube Company; and Bruce Brown, President of
‘\) Pan American Petroleum Company, We were told that Gerald Hunziker,
Head of the Department of Mechanical Engincering and also of Aero-

nautical Engineering at M.1.T., and also chairman of the National

AV'O""GH Crvmerdtd AP Apansdpon swea T AT an A A mashhans Y A e L)
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h The meeting was addresscd by Sumner Pike who gave a rambi_ing

.- talk on patents in the atomic field, by Dr. Jim Fiske who gave an
excellent outline of the sciance of atomic reactions and by Dave
lilienthal ivhose remarks as to what he hoped to accomplish through
the group wers far from specific,

After the discussion it was suggested that we meet again at
Oak Ridge where we could gain greater familiarity with the prob.
lem, We were very uncertain as to what it was all about, We were
told we were "ad hoc”, which I later learned meant temporary, and
that we were a "gl'\;mp" not a "committee.” I don't yet know the dif.
ference, We wondered if we were expected to submit a report--no one
seemed 4to know so I, at least, and I presume several others aiso,
felt we night pursue this matter a bit farther and expected that
.3 | thrm_xgh expert chairmanship the mission would be clarified. It
nevei was,

We wont to Oak Ridge and saw the amazing diffusion plant
built and operated by the Union Carbide Company, also the labora=-
tory operated by them, We saw the magnetic separai:ion plant built
by fhstman Kodak and evidences of the thermal separation with its
huge boiler house, We saw the reactor built as a semi works by
du Pont prior to the huge Hanford installation,

We gnt some ideas as to how industrial contractors worked

with the commission and also how the community of Oak Ridge was

problem--running an entire village under most unusual circumstances,
How could a young scientist and his wife and children carry on in a
.\ healthy manner when everything around them was owned and operated by

a government agency and when secrecy permeated the entire atmos-
phere?

-operated under the restrictions of secrecy..  Here was a difficult . .
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We saw "Nepa", the Fairchild Aviation Company project on |

nuclear propelled'aircraft. Some said this was a development of

" utmost urgency and importance., Others said it was a waste of time,

money, manpower and materials.

We met several members of the "M.L.C." which we found was the
Military Liaison Committee. We sensed a certain lack of cooperation
between the M,L.C, and the A,E,C, Each seemed eager to tell us its
side of the story without interference from the other, It was a bit
puzzling to us.

The group felt a trip to lHanford would Le in order..-for how .

could we comment intelligzently without knowledge of our sudbject?

'fAIthough the A,E.C. didn't appear eager, still they arranged for the

trip and most of us boarded a N,W, Airlines plane at Chicage bound
for Yakima, Washington, and thence. to Hanford,

.-« There was atili no progress in clarifying the objectives of
the group and on that plane Bob Wilson began to assert some leader-
ship suggesting to Jim Parker, our Chairman, that various aspects

of the report be assigned to different members, The idea seemed

to be favorably received and I was asked to study and.repart on

the organization of the A.E.C. in relation with its ability to deal
effectively with industfy. This subject had appeared to me to be
important, and the more I saw of the cumbersome A.E.C. organization
the more I felt effective industrial contact was hampered,

.. At Hanford we saw the huge plant built and operated by du. Pont.
but recently turned over to the General Electric Company as a result
of the government's agreement with du Pont to relieve it of any re-
sponsibility after the war was over,

We were impressed, of course, with the size and complexity

both of the scientific problems and also the commercial ones, Here

again we saw a comrnnitvy nrohlew hut ¢ cnsred 1eea arnta than at
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5.

‘ less rigid.

We saw the serious problem of shortage of uranium and the
very low uti_lization of this precious material in the process, A
means of recovery or a less wasteful method seemed highly desirable..
in fact it seemed about the most important feature of the entire
A.E.C. operation,

We found G.E. was working on this at Hanford, G.E, was also work:
on it at its Knowles N,Y. laborateory., Standard 0il Development Corpor-
ation was working on it at Bayonne, N.J., Blaw Knox was working on it
somewhere, Unjon Carbide was working on it at Oak Ridge. Lots of

people were assigned to the problem--sn many it seemed to verge upon

" the hqc‘t"ic, and when I found that some of this activity reported in

to the Commigsion through the "director of Hanford operations®, some

- through the %director of N.Y. operationa®, some through.the "director

of Oak Ridge operations®, and some through the Director of Research,
I felt there was a'sad need of some morev sensible approach to this
most urgent problem,

This further emphasized the importance of a change in the

A.E.C., organization structure, Here was a problem of greatest im-

'portance reporting into the General Manager of the commission through

four of his direct subordinates.

A trip was made to the Knowles Laboratory operated by the
General Electric Company just outside of Schenectady., It was a very

~large and ohviously expengive lﬂqmtory; - We-picked up-a rumor that -

Harnte
G.E. had agreed to operatenoniy on the condition that the government

would permit them to build a nuclear laboratory at government expense.
In the lab we saw "NEPS™-which was to be a nuclear means of
propulsion power of submarines, This project was more favoradly re-

garded than NEPA because it was felt there was much more chance of

[RRTOE PRSP FWe [,
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success and that the appfoach to the problem was sounder, NEPA l
.‘\‘ seemed to have an atmosphere ofamateur ballyhoo about it.

As I drove my car through a hard snow storz from Schenectady
to Southport, Connecticut, Y wondered what this group activity was aill
about, The visits were very interesting but we didn't seem to have
any mission or leadership and I couldn't see that we were accomplishe-
ing a thing,.

Although I was devoting only about one day out of every two
weeks to this activity, the balance being on my regular dutics as
Vice President and Asst, General Manager of the Remington Arms Come
pany, still I was aware that members of the company begrudged the
time I was spending and I was eager to get something done and pull
out, Others of the group hegan to feel this way also,

.\ ' A meeting in New York was held to dig into the buainess.of
. the group. An agenda was prepared and circulated to the members,
Most of us, I am sure, attended with confidence that at last we would
accomplish something constructive. Many of them héd prepared their
sections of the proposed report and I had prepared mine,
The meeting was addressed in the morning by Mr. Cox of the
Naval Engineering firm of Gibbs & Cox. It was most interesting but
I couldn®t see how it was a bit constructive, 1In the afternoon,
discussion rambled without any direction and the meeting adjourned,
We hadn't once referred to the agenda and we hadn't taken a single
" constructive action.
A few days later T met Isaac Warter in New York to make a
direct contact with some officers of Union Carbide Company to ascer
.\, tain their views. Nothing significant developed.
I met with Carroll Wilson, Genernl Manager of A.E.C., to oute
line my views of the A.E.C, organization. It secmed to me that when

he had so many apencies reportinr direct to him there was lack of
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coordination, There was no bne under him with sufficient scope of
action or authority and he, himself, could devote so 1ittle time to
any individual or any problem or program that this situation was
proving to be a detriment to industrial cooperation. He didn't
appear to share my viewpoint. A year or so later, however, the organ-v
ization was changed very much along the lines I suggested,

Several other meetings were held with no specific results,

One Saturday we met in Washington, C. K. Davis, President of
Reﬁington Arms Co., phoned me that he had received a phone call from
Secretary Forrestal and suggested that I contact Dr., Vannevar Bush.

I had known "Van" Bush .for many years. He had been my teacher
of electrical engineering at ¥.I,T. and I'd met him several times
lafer when he was Vice President of M.I.T.

I met him at the Coémos Club in Washington that afternoon. He
told me the Military Liaison Committee to the A.E.C., was being reorgan-
ized; that it was to have a civilian chairman; that this individual
would also be chairman of the Committee on Atomic Energy of the Re-
search and Development Board and, further, that he would be Deputy
‘to the'Secretary of Defense on all atomic energy matters, In other
words, he would be the top atomic energy official ih the Military
Establishment, All military matters pertaining to atomic bombs or

any other atomic weapons, defenses or reactions would come under his

jurisdiction.

Van told me Secretary Forrestal wanted me to take that job,

I was stunned,

At dinner with the members of the Atomic Energy Commission
that evening Lewis Strauss, a commissioner, and Carroll Wilson, G.M.,
urged me all through dinner to accept, Other members indicated their

similar desires. '

I took the sleeper and got out at New Haven on a very cold
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Sunday morning. It was cold Jriving homé“én& no one was awake, I

went up to our bedpoom, undressed and climbed into bed. When Louise
awoke she was surprised to see me there, but I had a bigger surprise,

I told her to brace herself for the shock and recounted the previous

- day's bombshell, Secretary Forrestal wanted me to be the top mili.

tary man on all atomic matters.
It was only two years after Hiroshima and Nagisaki, The
atomic bomb was held in universal awe, It was a mysterious monster

that most people hoped didn't really exist but they knew it did,

And here I was asked to take charge nf the military applications of

this monster for the most powerful nation on earth. I couldn't
quite grasp it,

That Sunday morning we went to church., We did a lot of hard
thinking. I talked it over with C. K. Davis. What should I do?
' Aside from the awesome significance of the assignment, there
were the considerations of what about my Job'witﬁ_Remington Arms
Company. True enough the request was for only six months to set
up the new organization but there was always the risk that it
might last longer,

Marcellus H, Dodge, Chairman of Remington, received a letter

from Forrestal outlining the urgency of the assignment, -7

C.K. suggeétad that I go to Wilmington and talk with the

~ du Pont people which I did, I discussed the matter with Ruly Car-

penter, Walter, Jr,, Crawford Greenewalt, Charlie Cary, Tom Brown

had come up, but since it had, they felt the company should cooperate,
but the decision was purely my own,

Phone calls from Lewis Strauss, Carroll Wilson and Van Bush
urged me to accept, but I told them I hadn't yet decided, and that

there were many negatives, The du Pont Company had tried hard to
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stay away from military implic. tions of its business in peacetime.-
.\ - particularly atomic energy. Reminoton Arms had a good record during tI

-- war and hoped to keep it so, With my connection with both companies
and my name Carpenter there was a serious risk that unfavorable pub.
licity wouid come to du Pont, Remington and myself, |

I had just about made up my mind to turn it down and was re-
turning to Bridgeport. I had made the decision but felt'very un-
comfortable about it, Then the phone rang in Charlie Cary's office.
Colonel Hines was coring to Wilmington to tell me something he conld
not relay by phons., At the R.R,Station he told me the lieriin .B'%ock-
ade had tightened, Decision had been reached to push throush and
General Clay had heen sent word to shoot if he must to get supplies
through to Berlin. Military authorities in Washington were alerting
.for war, they expected it at once. The atomic bomb was their fore.

%‘ most weapon and the top military nositidn on atomic matters was
vacaiit awaiting my decision and arrival, He urge& me fto come at
once and take charge'.

Although I had already intended to decline, the combination
of my uneasiness at this decision plus the urgency répresented. to
me v-vhich I was in position tn check at least partially becaunse of
the contact I already had with the A.E.C. and the 'knowledge that

. although there were many others probably better qualified than my-
' self,'stilll my industrial experience, education and A.E.C., contacts
were better than most and if 1 could report promptly it probably
-~ - would-be -helpful -to -the-Military Estahlishment., —JIt-was a -hard-deci- -
" sion but I made it.
I told Colonel Hinds I would come, but I would not come for
‘\ two weeks. The delay would permit C. K, Davis to return from vaca-
tion before I left and it would force existing military officers to
make vital decisions in the emergency, I couldn't possibly be in

nacdtdan +an matra $%ham wrPblT Y Lol mnfiac il e dam Pt T
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the entire subject, I had on. further reservation:- I wanted to

visit each atomic energy commissioner, each service secretary z
and each military chief personally to ascertain if they approved
- my appointment before I accepted. This I did and was universally
urged to Accept.

There were many things to be done. I was to be on leave of
absence without pay for six months, I would receive government
salary during that peripd. We would rent our house furnished and
rent a furnished house in Washington, for in spite of the prospect
of a hot Washington summer, Louise said she'd come with me and move

down as soon as Judy (then age 9) was through school,
| Lt. General Lesiie Groves who had headed the "Manhattan
Project" during the war was retiring as head of AFSWP (Afawap)
Armed Forces Special Weapons Project which was a tri.service
opcrafion on all atomic activities left to the Military after the
A.E.C, was set up, Mis positioh was to be filled and General J.
Lawton Collins asked me if I would approve Colonel Kenneth Nichols
for this position. I_net.Nichols, learned a bit of his background
as Grovea'-deputy andf;pproved. He was appointed and advanced to
tﬁe-rank of Ma jor General.

At a meeting with Secretary Forrestal I told him I had
twelve (12) questions I would like to have answered. He asked me
what they were and he gave me twelve (12) answers within ten

minutes., Those answers still stick and I regarded his brilliance
—-and.-clarity of mind as amazing,. ... . .. _.

Forrestal asked me to come to dinner at his house that
evening, There were about eight men there and by the end of the
evening I had identified all but one, a Mr. Hopley, I couldn't
figure out what he was doing there, Later we drove back to our

hotels together and found that Forrestal was urging both of us to
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take a government gssignment, Right then and there we "formed a

union* and worked cloaely.untﬁl he left Washington, le had be;ﬁ
President of Northwestern Bell Telephone with home in Omaha, and
became head of the civilian defense planning agency which issued
the "Hopley Report.” Although it was later quashed by Truman and
ignored by Symington, I believe it laid the foundations for this
vitally important activity. 4 ‘

Departure from Remington was with mixed emotions. True I
was to be gone only six months, but there was always the possibility
that the departure might be hermanent. At a reception held for me
on this occasion I felt very uneasy. These were close friends and
business associates, We'd been through the depression, the New Deal
persecution and the war together, I was leaving them, but then again,
maybe I wasn't, I was undertaking a responsibility the dimensions
"~ of which were unknown., I'm afraid I wasn't as gracious as I should
have boen. I was disturbed and I left, |

Dr, James Conant had been chairman of the committee on Atomic
Energy of the RDB., I talked to him bdriefly in Cambridge as I was
to be his successor, He expressed his pleasure at my taking over and
offered every cooperation. It was abvious that he was happy to be
relieved of this responsibility, |

Louise had intended to go with me to pick out a house, but
" at the last minute a bad back put her in the hospital. So I started
for Washington in my car alone,

" At Princeton I lunched with Dr. Oppenheimer, I hadn't heard
much of him before but it was recommended that I see him because of
his broad knowledge and experience in the atomic field and his posi-
tion as chairman of the General Advisory Committee to the A.E.C.

He was most cordial and helpful, We had a long discussion

on the scientific aspects of atomic energy and he outlined the basic
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theories on atomic fusion as we' . as fission and mentioned the

hu?e potentialities in weapons utilizing the vast energy released from
the fusion of hydrogen,
~ In view of later disclosures on Oppenheimer's attitude toward
the "H'bomb" it has seemed surprising that he should have voluntarily
taken that occasion back in 1948 to tell me of the potentialities,
As I drove south it was as if I were in a>dream. The vast
. ch@ngg in my personal affairs and the overwhelming responsibilities
' had a sense of unreality and I probably was quite bewildered when I
finally arrived ianashington at midnight in a howling rain storm,
| ‘ In order to set the record straight I wrote Forrestal that I
would receive no compensation from du Pont or Remington during my
tenure in Washington and that I was a director of Senéca Falls Machine
Company and a member of the.Corporation of ¥M,I.T, I would have absolute.
",ly no business connection with any of these organizations. I advised
ﬂ;him I owned some common stock in various industrial companies which I
. would be willing to disclose to him'or anyone he might designate. I
did not wish to sell them because of the taxes I'd have to pay by so
doing but I promised I'd buy no more while on government duty. Ior-
restal checked this letter with Tom Clark, Attorney General, and the
Chairman of the Armed Services Committee of the Senate and wrote me he
was satisfied,
I told him I was a Republican, that I was not in sympathy with

" many of Truman's administration policies. and that I proposed to give

' ny opinion when asked. I told him I did not wish persomal publicity ~

and would refuse it except on occasions when the job required it, He
was satisfied,

Secretary of the Army Kenneth Royall had invited me to dinner
with Forrestal, John Sullivan, Secretary of the Navy, and Stu Syming-
ton, Secretary of the Air Force. I greatly appreciated the opportunity
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of meeting these of ficials, but nothing of any importance trans-'
C pired. The fact that the dinner was held for me, however, indicated

e the importance of the assignment.

General Joe Collins invited Louise and me -to vigit their home
in Washington to attend the reception for General Omar Bradley when
he was ‘appointed Chief of Staff of the Army succeeding Eisenhower,
This was before I went to Washington and we were unable to a.ttend.

After dealing with Junior Officers during the war, I could
not but be impressed by the courtesies extended to us by secretaries
and "4 star generals", '

At Secretary Royall's invitation I joined his mess. There
were ‘ablout forty (40) members consisting of the highest ranking
'orficgré and civilians of the army and a few members of the Secrea
tary of Defense's offices. ' It was a most interesting group. I

"‘ ' lunchqd there most of the days I was in the Pentagon although I
later joined Secretary Symington's mess at his invitation and lunched

;3' there on a few occasions, '

) - These coﬁtact’s were both pleasant and very helpful, Here I
could talk on an informal basis with the top members of the Military
Establishment. Individuals who come to mind as most interesting and
congenial are Ken Royall, Ike Eisenhower, Omar Bradley, Joe Collins,
Gerry Persons, Gordon Gray, Bill Draper, Arthur Hill, Jack Ohly,
Bi1l McNeil, Tracy.Vaorhees, Ferd Eberstadt, Stu Symington, fouie

- Spatz, Hoyt Vandenberg, Art Barrows, Al Wedemeyer, Laurie Norstad,

T

The atomic tests were to be held in Einewetok in the Pacific.
.\‘ . Beneral Hull was in command and Rear Admiral Deke Parsons was his
deputy. Parsons suggested that I attend these tests and in prepar=
ation I took a cancentrated series of "shots." I'm afraid that

they added further to my rather confused state of mind and were
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partially to blame for my gc ncral lack of energy and enthusiasm

.\ upon arrival at Washington, To offset this feeling 1 took heavy
- doses of vitaming prior to important meetings., They helped but

14.

the later reaction was very enervating.

Dﬁe to the critical situation of the Berlin blockade, my
presence in Washington was more important than a visit to Einewe-
tok, so the huge flying boat, the "MARS", which was set up by
the Navy for me was nmot used,

My office in the Pentagon was an excellent one, very close
to Porrestal's and I was aésigried an excellent secretary, Miss
Rosik, and a superb aid, Commander "Dick" Ashworth, My staff
.consisted of a tri.service group of about forty officers under

- the direction of Dick as director of the staff.
At the time of my arrival in Washington all members of the
‘S Military Liaison Committee were at the Einewetok tests, “This
A ‘gave me an excellent opportunity to become t‘aniliar with the prob-
~ lems prior to their return, In this, Dick Ashworth was an invale
uable assistant, |

The M.L.C, was created by statute. It came about because
éenator Vandenburg had been fearful that the A.E.C, might be un-
mindful of the military requirements of atomic energy in which
case the M.L.C. had the right to file its objections directly with
the President, This made the M.,L.C. a sort of "kibitzing"™ orpgan-

- | ization rather than a creative one, The A,E.C. gave it all the

~information- :ltwrequestod, but- m«&lways aapt'ehensive of - its

wt ¥* © [Aa Rl sl [ FPTRTY INeY R L T TR Ty —

actions. On the other hand the members of M,L.C. were a.lwaya on
e vt

l - the lookout for gaps in the A.E.C. program which might adversely
affect national defense,
It was a situation fraught with possibilities of jealousy

and discord, and I felt these emotions existed in substantial

A cevrann
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Added to this was the strong feeling Wl‘riclk e:@sted between
' _the Military and the scientists of A.E.C. It was said, and with
some truth, that mwembers of the A,E.C. thought all military officers
‘were damn fools and officers thought all A,E.C. people were damn
- crooks. This was an exaggeration, of course, but still there were
strong feelings,

Forrestal, sensing this situation, told me my job was to

B Gteenasiy 4 rin

bring about close cooperation; He pointed out -that the Military
Taa held responsible for the defense of the country, and its most
important weapon was manufactured and held in custody by a civilian
organization over whom the Military had no authority, and with
whose members the military officers were not on speaking terms. It
was my job to clear this up.

This was a very difficult problem but it was further com-
plicated by the tri.service rivalry within the M,L.C, itself. This,
I thought, pust be cleared up first for how could we expect cooper-
ation from others if we didn't have cooperation among odrs_elvesr

There were six officers on the M.L.C., two from each ser-
vice, I was asked to approve all these appointments, I advised
tr;at I wanted specific recommendations from the three military
chiefs, each recommending two men from his service. These men were,
however, to have important operational assignments at the same time.
© I made this requirement for two reasons, first to make certain they
recopmended a man of real ability, and Second to‘ make certain he was
--in-closecontact with his servicets activitiss, "On this basis a few
previous members had to be replaced.

We had an excellent group of men., They were Major General
Kenneth Nichols and Colonel John Hinds of the Army; Rear Admirals
Parséns and Oftsie of the Navy; and Lt, General Louis Brereton and

Brig, General "Bim" Wilson of the Air Force. General Brereton was

b, v % e, 9 e ~ - wea




’ L ‘ T
There was great jealopgy be tween the three:qeryices. If an

Army representative proposed an acfion, the Navy anq,%be Air Force
must both have a say in 1t, The Army generally WaS sympathetic
with the interests of the Air Force, but the Navy was suspicious of
both, pafticularly the Air Force., The Navy had its own aviation
service. The Navy "Flat Tops" and planes Had been vital factors in
our victory at sea, They were afraid the Air Force would be told
to operate all planes in all services. In this case the Navy would
get a most serious setback,

‘ The Navy had opposed unification and since the unification
law was passed the Navy was "dragging its feet," Almost every time

PR e m

a unification program was sugpested you could count on the Navy

ocanans 0

-to oppose it.

e it
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So here on the ¥.,L.C. we had seriously discordant elements,
- let alone the bad situation with the A.E.C, IHow could we tackle thi-
problem? On this, Dick and I studied for the two weeks prior to the

return of the group from Einewetok.
When they returned we held our first meeting which was con=-

ducted strictly under parliamentary procedure, We were thers for
business not to just talk,

I thought that if we could assign each member a specific
function which he was to handle for the group he would become so
occupied with the development of his assignment that substantial

progress would be made and service bickering and jealousy would
. d.imi ni3h6 P AR A £ P 3 A 1 L e 2L S R S 258 S 0 s

I proposed this procedure and to illustrate my point I suggesi

ed the following assignments:

Fage determined to be Y
n
Reviewsd Chief, RDD, W, class:ﬁed

AW EQ
(cont.,) ate: 1§526 Secion3
ST g




- Corn . 17,
General Nichols, Army

Prdduction of rissitjéble materials
Colonel Hindg, " Security ’

Admiral Parsons y Navy - Weapon Design Page determined to be Uncléssiﬁed
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General Brereton, Air Force - Personnel

General Wilson, " " . Atomic Power

Theﬁ the fur began to fly. The Air Force recognized Parsons' abilit]
'. as a weapons designer but the atomic bomb was of primary interest
fo the Air Force so they should have a deputy with Parsons, Cone
versely, the Navy must have a deputy on Atomic Power because atomic
submarines were vital to the Navy,

The Army had to have deputies in both activities, So it went
‘and soon it seemed that all three services woﬁld have to be repre-
.sented on each .function. . This wnuld, of course, completely defeat
the objeétiva and make things worse than they had been. So I suge
gested they think it over until the next day, and in thinking it
over try to decide one question "Do you want to trust each other
and run an efficient operation, or can't you trust each otherpy"

. The next day we met and approved the procedure. It worked,
service bickering practically stopped. Each member was so conscious
of his tri.service responsibility that he leaned over backwards to b«
sure that he was fair to the others, On a few occasions when the
newspaper headlines told of fighting between the services, the

¥.L.C. members would chuckle and point out that we had no such

“fightss ~They began to take pride in our set-ap which they said
was the only one like it in Washiﬁgton. We were making progress.
The M.L.C., and its staff had a very low "esprit de corps."
It badly needed a psychological "build-up.” Its activities had
lacked importance and significance and an M.L.C. appointment had

not been a mark of recognition.-more nearly it was a "sidetrack,"
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The entire activity needed scifrespect. To start with we requested

General Gruenther, director of staff for the all-powerful J.C.S, (Joir
Chiefs of Staff) to give the M,L.C. a briefing on the war plans,

This seemed a revolutionary move for only the highest officials

ever saw the war plans. But war plans must necessarily contenm.

plate atomic weapons and defenses and this was M.L.C., business,

'S0 why shouldn't we be briefed? We should)and we were,

Frpm time to time military chiefs or service secretaries
would ask me of the status of certain activities, I invariably

referred these inquiries to the M.L.C., member who was advisor on

the subject, This helped to reflect the importance of their assign-

ments,

In various ways we tried to build up mhrale and it was grat-
ifying later that the services occasionally requested the oppore
tunity of making new appointmenta to the M.L.C, or its staff,

o One such request was from Secretary Symington., He sent a
letter to me requesting that Dick Ashworth, a Navy man, be replaced
by an Air Force man as director of the M,L,C., staff, The reason

he gave was that the Air Force was the service most interested in
atomic energy. I didn't agree with his reasoning, I didn't think

it appropriate that Dick be replaced and 1 resented such a request
from a service secretary. I didn't want to turn it down categorical.

1y so I took Symington's letter back to him and asked him to with-
draw it, He did,

itary atomic activities, With Nichols I flew to a faraway point
to inspect the construction of a depot for storing atomic weapons.
I presume its location and construction are still classified so I

cannot comment on where I went or what I saw or what suggestions

I made,
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On another trip I .topped in on another installation

which is 1little known to the pudlic, I'm tempted to comment on

it as it was of great interest, but security prevents me. An-

other trip was to make a more thorough review of Oak Ridge,

takiné in the gaseous diffusibn plant, the Iaboratory,lthe re-

actor with its output of radioactive isotopes for industrial

use and the NEPA operations.

It seemed time to come to grips with this NEPA situation,

The Fairchild Aviation Company under leadership of J. Carleton
Ward were making heroic efforts to accelerate this activity.

The concept of an airplane propelled by an atomic reactor which
" could fly around the world without stopping and carrying atomic

bombs was represented as a No. 1 objective. On the other hand,

many people pointed out that the activity was poorly conceived

and poorly manned, that nuclear fuels were too scarce to risk
- “dn a plane, that if such a plane were shot down over enemy
territory it would reveal many important secrets, that t he
welght of the reactor and the necessary radiation shielding

was excessive for a plane and that the whole business was a
" waste of time. This activity, besing atomic power, came under
General Wilson's responsibilities., He arranged for a complete
briefing of the M.L.C, and some of its staff by the NEPA organ=-
ization, When it was over we were confused but still skeptical.
We had General McCormick with us, He was director of military
Wwapplica:ianewefw%@efA?E:Gr”Miwbeiievu”heﬂwaﬁ”ﬁI§6”§K§§TIE£1:WKTféF
this the A.E.C. arranged with the Massachusetts Institute of Tech-
nology to review the activity and M,I.T. appointed Walt Whitmaa
who was head of the Department of Chemical Engineering to head up
the investigation, It seemed like a good idea, but the NEPA
people immediately set up a protest and tried to discredit the
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study befors it started., Thi: I didn't like and told Ward and
.\ his associate Richardson that I couldn't look with favor on a cone
- testant who tried to discredit the umpire before the game started,

The results of the study came out later and the opinionm was ex-
pressed that with existing knowledge of radioactive dosages and
shielding, a:lfplane propulsion by atomic energy was not feagsible
and must await substantial development in bofh the science and
engineering before it would be worthy of subdbstantial activity. This,
I believe, slowed this activity down or may have stopped it com-
pletely. I have heard recent rumors that lead me to suspect that
the work may have been reactivated in 1ight of new developments,
I don't believe it is being done under the same management.
Many members of the M.L.G. organization had engaged in very
important phases of the Manhattan Project during and after the war,
.\' . Admiral Parsons was the bomb commander who dropped the atomic bomb
| on'ﬁiroshim. Commander Ashworth was bomb commander at Nagasaki,
M'Any had been at Almagordo, Most of them had been at Bikini and
- “at Einewetok, The tales of the early days of atomic development
would make fascimating reading in themselves but have no place here,
' Shortly after I assumed my position as chairman of M.L.C,
and Deputy to the Secretary of Defense for Atomic Energy a crisis
loomed, . In the Pentagon they called such a crisis a "swivel,"
Many scientists went to the Einewetok tests., It was con-
‘sidered very important that these tests be conducted in great se-
e ST CCY s BNA_the scientista were asked to conduct. themselves accorde. .
ingly. Since they were eager to divulge scientific information
' resulting from the tasts,'they were told that they could meet with
.A the press and make radio broadcasts on these matters after the
tests had been completed and when they reached Pearl Harimr on the
way home, Under these circumstances they cooperated fully, although

thay ware vapy anantriana af wmitd{tany afficiala. General Wull whn
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was in command of the expedition, did an excellent job in gaiﬁing
.\ and holding their respect. I heard some of them say that all mili-

tary officers were stupid except, of course, General Null who was
an exception,

It was left that publicity could be released about two days
after the tests, and overyone seemed satisfied, But then the mat-
ter got out of hand, I believe it may have started at a meeting
of the War Council when someone expressed apprehension that this
publicity release would be very helpful to the Russians in their
activities on detection of ;tomic explqsions. We had our means of
so doing--they probably were working along this 1ine also and to
give them information on a blast within 48 hours of its occurrence
might help them greatly, so the pre.arranged plan of releasing

N publicity was in jeopardy,
@, ‘ I was called for a hasty review, Most officers with know-
_i;éée and experience in these matters were at Einewetok dbut I con-
‘farred with General Nichols who did not seem much concerned and
then with Admiral (then Captain) Tom Hill who headed the Navy's
atomic activity (Operation 86) in Admiral Parsons' absence, He
was mightily concerned,

I discussed the matter with the full commission (A.E.C.)
except Barker who was at the tests. They thought the military was
too apprehensive, So did I, but I wasn't certain . Finally, it

wound up that the Army and Air lorce were satisfied to let matters

" 'stand as arranged and permit the publicity release, but the Navy

was bitterly opposed, Forrestal left the final decision to me, I
.\ would have opposed the Navy position, but knowing my inexperience
L. in this field and believing that in case of doubt the position favor.
ing security should be preferred I ruled that there should be no pub-
licity release at Pearl Harbor and had this word sent to General Hull.
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What a protest came from the Pacific! The t eletype worked
hard and long until late at night, I asked Tom Hill to handle the
matter since it was the Navy whose position was prevailing, At one
occasion I averheard a question as ton what authority I had to issue
such an order. I placed on top of my desk a letter from Forrestal
delegating to me all his authority in this field and left the office
"t6 get a cup of coffee.” When I returned the orders had been is-
sued. I knew Tom Hill and others had seen the letter,

There was no publicity at Pearl Harbor, the Navy's position
prevailed for what it may have been worth, but great damage was
done, The feeling of the scientists towards the military boiled
over. One said he'd never go into the Pentagon again as long as he
lived. Another declared he'd naver again trust a man in uniform,

and so it went~.the situation which was already bad became critical,

‘What could be done about it?

A few weeks later when some of the high blood pressure had

subsided Y sold Forrestal on the idea of a dinner honoring the

scientists and military officers in charge of the tests. He rather
reluctantly agreed if I'd arrange it. I did, or rather Dick Ash-
worth did, although he said he had to study a lot of protocol to

set up a dinner for "all the brass.”

It was to be a top secret meeting Saturday evening in the

'Pentagon. The rooms were to be completely guarded with guards

'hwith "Q clearance." (A E C clearance) In the room we had a display

of maps, d iagrams, and picturea pertaining to the Einewatok tests.

Cocktails were served by mess boys with Q clearance who also served
the dinner, Invitations were sent in Forrestal's name to the three
Service Sedretaries, to the three Military Chiefs, to Admiral Leahy,
the President's Military Advisor, to the five Atomic Energy Commis-

sioners, to the General Manager of A,E.C., to t he members of the M.L.!
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and to General Hull and his c¢aputies and Dr, Frohmah, ark, -

/ Graves,--the top scientisfs._ “Some ot‘. these latter at first rc;..
.\‘ fuged to come, but Dave Lilienthal, Chairman of A E,C., requeéted
T them to attend., It was a stormy night. I wasn't certain how many
ofA "fhe brass" would attend and I had many "hostess pains." Would
this be a complete farce or would it do the trick?

One by one the guests arrived, all drenched by rain., I was
delighted tosee them--they all came, every one, When Dr. Frohman
arrived, very suspicious and very much on his guard, he was promptly
introduced to Secretary Forrestal and asked to explain the maps,
diagrams, etc. to the Secretary., Similarly, Dr., Clark was asked
to explain the operation to General Bradley, and each scientist
was conducting and explaining and gatherihg about him groups of
Génera.ls y Admirals and Sgcretaries. It was difficult to break it

‘\- | up for dinner, Dick told me the seating was a real problem-<how
) should a Commissioner rank with a Secretary? How should I rank--
that was the tough one. That was easily solved, however, for 1
told Dick to seat me at the very foot of the table and I'd perform
the introductions from there,

General Hull gave a brief report, then each of the scientists
and Dave Lilienthal. When the sclentists left I heard them say
this isn't such a bad outfit after all, It had worked,

Louise had intended to po with me to Washington to find a

hohse but a bad back prevented her from coming. I first stopped

- ~__at the llay Adams House for a few days and then mowved to "1718 -H% .-
' at the invitation of General Frank McCoy, an old friend of Uncle
Ed's, Uncle Ed had been a member of "The Family" at 1718 H when
.\' he was in Congress in 192§,
It was an unusual 1ittle place. Jameé and Julia ran it.
There appeared to be no rules, Membership could be determined by

the silver goblaets on the shelf over the fireplace. each one of
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.\: At breakfast, “fhe. only’ meal which was served there, I ;met
.- . one. or two members each morning, They only stayed for a day or so

and were gone, A most interesting group they were. Patchinkof Unit:
Fruit Company; Harrison, Ambassador to Switzerland; Dr.
from Boston; Hershel Johnson, Ambassador to Brazilj Joe Grew, Under
Secretary of State; Walter Howe, an attorney in Washington; Eliot
Wadsworth; Joe Alsop, a news commentator and writerj Frank McCoy,
Retired Army General who was in charge of the Far East Commission
of the State Department,

I had occasion to bring a few associates to 1718 H and they
were both surprised and pleased to find such a place existed., It
had a bit of "old world" touch to it, ‘

Wives could stay, only when with their member husbands and the

.\‘ 'only in the “1ceb9x", a sulte of rooms on the top floor completely
L -séparated from the rest of the building. Louise came to stay with
me a few times,

The house was empty much of the time so I had the place to
myself. I got my evening meals at the Metropolitan Club.

' One Saturday evening I was quite lonely and phoned my old
acquaintance, Admiral llarold Stark, who used to live in Wilkes-
Barre and who had been Chief of Naval Operations, As soon as he
heard my voice on the phone he said "Why Donald, what are yon
doing there, don't you know you should be out here with us?"® I
- 0@ -and - had--many-pleasant-visits-in-Harold-and-Kitty'ls-beautiful
home, They were very kind tn Louise, Judy and me, and their
'-" . kindness meant a great deal to us,

.\ ' Forrestal enjoyed tennis, so did General Gruenther and so
did I, so we got tosether‘ frequéntly. General Court Schuyler
of ten made.a fourth, We would play at the Fort Leslie McNair
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Al Gruenther and I played singles together on Saturday at
11 A M., then we'd have 5 aané;ich and a beer served by Grace ;
Gruenther at their home and return to our offices in the Pentagon.
- There was generally much comment in the mess room at Monday lunch
as to the outcome of the Saturday’s game. We had a lot of fun
and did a lot of kidding, |

Forrestal also liked Badminton and I played with him in \//
the St, Alban's school gymnasium, One time we were to have a
foursome but only the two of us turned up so we played singles.
Anything he did he did with all his energy, so we played hard,
Jt was a strenuous game and when we sat wringing wet on the bench
in the locker room I thought neither of us should play that hard,
but at least 1t had taken his mind of f of his work. Just then
he looked up and said "Don, what are we going to do about the Air
Force Rudget?® Even a game such as that couldn't take his thoughts
away from his heavy duties,

He vas a dynamo of energy and amazingly keen and decisive,
He followed a killing routine. He would frequently breakfast at
7:30 or 8 A,M. in his office mess room with some important visitor
who was arriving in Washington hy sleeper, He would discuss im-
portant affairs with his visitor and then hold his morning staff
meeting whichwould be very quick and snappy, asking cach member
individually what items he had and answering them on the spot. If

...an item appeared to require a bit of discussion, the individual

would get his answer after the meeting,

Then he would start with his appointment schedule, Most
people in Washington run their appointments on a 15.minute-schedule
but Forrestal's seemed more 1ike an anpointment every 5 minutes.
This called for keen concentration, judgment and decision, partic-

ularly so hecause the only visitors to see him were thnse whase
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business had already been disiussed with junior officials and had
to go to Forrestal for considiration. Other callers might be some

I old friends or distinguished officials.
At 11 he might go out for a game of tennis for an hour and

At this lunch he might ine

Ex 2

return for lunch with a fow Senators.
vite someone in his department who was particularly concerned with

the discussion. At the end of lunch he would issue a "coffee cali

to some of his associates to come to his lunch table to learn of
I was frequently called for both lunch and

the decisions reached,
"coffee call," .

In the afternoon he might attend meetings of the Munitions
Board, the Research and Developmént Board, the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
or:othars. On these occasions he would f}equently introduce a new

viewpoint for discussion and leave requesting that he be informed

of the group opinion or decision,
Frequently during the day he would be called to The White

House, to congressional hearings, or to other government agencies,
His time was so fully occupied that if we wished to see him on an

urgent matter which couldn't be handled by the "intercom", his sec.

retary, Kate Foley, would tell us to get into his car at a certain

3
E,’Cg‘i‘)g time and we would discuss our problems fvith him as he was driven
°§§ to or from one of these meetings, ‘
2 At six he would frequently have cocktails served at his
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house at which time members of the press might be invited for off-
They would leave and another guest or two

¥

__the-record discussion,
would appear for dinner to discuss some philosophical problems, If

something of interest to one of his associates came up he might
Loulise and I were s0 called on

i Date:

send out a "Scotch and Soda call,"

N

a few occasions,

[ .

| After his guests had left I have seen him pick up his brief
case and his driver would drive him back to the Pentacon.
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. What a 1ifel I've never seen a man under so much pressure
and more conscientious, He thou;ht he could stand it for a couple of

years when he intended to retire turning his office over to someone
else, He thought if he took regular exercisé he could live thraugh

it. He tried despyately to f ind people in whom he had implicit con.

fidence to work with him so he could give them complete responsibil.
He was able to get very few. I be-

ity and thus relieve himself,
He delegated to me every authority

lieve I was one and felt honored,
" .he himself possessed in my field of operation, He supported me on

every occasion., I've never had a superior who appeared to repose so
I'm told that he once told Van Bush that one

" much confidence in me,
of the most helpful moves Van made was to get me to come to Washinge

ton, Perhaps so, I hope so anyway for I had‘great admiration and
affection for the man who was sn right and fought so hard against

such odds that his health cracked and he committed suicide,

. Many people hlame Drew Pearson for Forrestal's collapse, others
blame tri-service bickering, Some say it was family anxieties. All
these contributed but, in my opinion, his greatest anxiety came from

the attitude of the Navy in opposing unification and the attitude of
Stu Symington in constantly accusing him of partiality for the Navy.

2

é%gg' ‘The Army and Secretary Royall seemed to be the only service to give
fﬁgf him good support, '

é%%g;i But I've gotten ahead of my story. During the time I was

§§§w hhead of ¥,L.C. he was very active and vigorous,
5§§;§Mﬁ ... ..FPorrestal appointed me as_his depuly oa-the-"Combined-Pelicy
- I'd never heard of it and it was difficult to find out

Committee,"

» anything about it.
‘\ Churchill meeting at Quebec when the U.S. had undertaken the respon-

'sibility for atomic development and the committee was formed to main-

It had apparently resulted from the Roosevelt -

tain contact between England, Canada and the United States. There

was a scientific sub eroun on which T waa annainted ns a mewmbher.
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The first meeting was at'ended by Under Secretary of State

.": Bob Lovett, Dave Lilienthal, Carroll Wilson, Canadian and British.

There was only one meeting held when I was there

representatives,
It seemed pretty

and I never had a very clear idea of its activities,

fuzzy to me,
Back to my big problem - to obtain cooperation hetween the

Military and the A.E.C. scientists. One way to implement cooperation

is to establish common objectives. This I started to do. First, we

" had to find out what were the most important development projects and

who was working on them and whére. The research reports being sent in

to the A.E.C, headquarters from their various laboratories were very
sketchy. It seemed tb me they told only a small part of the story,
The scientists had "gone underground” since the creation of the A,E.C,

fénd because of the long inveéstigation and debate when Lillenthal was

'\ * appointed chairman of .the commission, The men were working quietly

]

. but 'no‘f telling much about their activities. Thus military labora-

tories were duplicating work in A.E,C. labs, without any exchange

" of information, I suspected there might be similar blind duplica-

) tion _betueen AQE.C. labs'
Before we could lay out a program of long range objectives

fied

§ §£ we woild have to find out what work had been done and what was under
368 g

T NS

'§§§,‘L ' This was proving to be quite an undertaking which we would
eré—u

ggg: ~ have to organize to handle, I felt the Committee on Atomic Energy
L e+ e temeeeere e - e e g —

SEER of the Research and Development Board would be the best agency.

consisted of the M,L.,C, members and in addition I appointed a lead-
ing scientist in chem:létry, Dr. Conant, and one in physics, Dr. Op-

9

,

penheimer, I also appointed a leading industrialist in these two

fields, Charles Thomas of Monsanto and Bill Hosford, retired Vice

Pregident of Western Electric Company. It was a strong committee.
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| For the immediate job Y xopointed a "sub committee on long
."s range objectives," This included Oppenheimer, General Kichols, Ad-
. miral Parsons, General Wilson and also Harry Winne, Vice President

in charge of atomic activities of General Electric, and George Fel-

‘beck, Vice President of Carbide & Carbon Chemicals Compﬁny.

To get into the problem we chartered a C-54 (DC.4 type) plane
and all of the above group except Conant )who was in Europe, started
west, We visited the Iniokern operations., Here we werse told by the

_ resident scientists of their activities. At the end of the day we

" had a general discussion on the work in progress and its importance,

* We then flew to Moffett Field where we attended the meetings of the
NACA (National Aviation Council of America) where the members of that
huge laboratory described their work. Then to the University of Cal-

;ifornia Radiation Laboratory at Berkeley where Dr. Ernest Lawrence

‘3' 3 and his assistant Cooksie and Dr. Seaborg told us of their work, Then

S to the‘Navy work on d§contamination and other natters at Treasure Is-
land and Alameda, Then to Hanford with Ernest Lawrence going with us.
At Hanford we dug into the progress being made on the recovery
and yield problem. Progress seemed very slight since my last visit
there'. We looked into it hard and called on' the group to turn out at

8 o'clock Sunday morning to go over it with us, I'm told this was

‘quite a surprise and a stimulant to the peopie there as they had exw
' pected just a routine military inspection.
. ~5 We then flew back and- on the plane the basis of the findings

e - A Ad-roComMenda tions--were-reughed-out-for-Dr.Oppenheimer—to-prepare — -

' a full report, I insisted upon one recommendation, i.e. that the re=-
. port should be reviewed every six months. I did this as I wanted to
.\ make certain that the program recommended would not be too rigid,
| The report was drawn and appraved by the sub zecrsittee, then

by the Committee on Atomic Energy of the Research & Development Board,

thean hy the M 1. .. hy tha J.0. Q. thy tha War Crunndd and the =2 7 7
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, Here we had a progi‘am""'f long range military objectives
.\ which had been approved by the highest authorities, We were now
.. . " preparesd to go ahead, There was plenty of work for everyone, in
Lo fact one of the most serious shortages was skilled manpower, From

then on it seemed to me that the members of the Military Establishe
ment and members of A,E.C, began to cooperate better, I felt we were

on our way to the type of relationship we desired,
There was one other major source of irritation, however,

that was the question of who should hold custody of atomic weapons.

The law provided that atomic weapons could be used only upm

" direction of The President. There was an inference that they should

be held in custody by the A.E.C. and delivered to the military only

when use was ordered by The President., It wasn't clear and the mil-
G itary deeply resented it. They couldn't understand why they weren't

’\' '~ trusted to store the atomic bombs.

manner in which the A.E.C., stored them.
A.E.C, personnel charged with the irmediate responsibility. Why

They were very critical of the
They were critical of the

should 2 dreamy young A.E.C. scientist who might be a conscientious

objector be trusted with "the keys" when a competent general respon—
Thers was much merit

’g sible for the defense of the _country was “r:ot?

;,g § fi? g in their poeition. , o T ..--‘.....m_...,_...,.._..l...m.‘,_.\_,
gg;‘;: | At the first meeting of the M,L.C, that I attended, even be-
§§§ @ - fore I became chairman, I was asked my views on this subject. I
§-§§s- knew little of it so merely said *I think it's a good idea to keep
82258 your powder dry." That seemed to_satisfy them for the tima, . But .

later I dug into it furthezj.
E I investigated the A.E.C. custody procedure, their storage

'facilities, their "chain of command® for delivery to the military.

®

I checked the military "chain of command® in receiving the weapon

I studied the law, discussed the implications of a

and using 1it.
. Under Secretary of State.

chanee in cnatndy nracedure with Rabh T.avett
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o discussed the problem with the "Joint-'Chiefs of Staff, Van Bush and

&

" be held in custody by the military but that a dual chain of command

drew up a "gstatement of issues" outlining all aspects of a transfer, '

From this I arrived at the conclusion that the weapons should

- should be established. The Secretary of Defense could give the order

_ t‘ot" withdrawal from storage but the order would have to go down through

two separate chains of command to prevent any single officer short of

O
tt'ze Secretary of Defense from issuing the order on his own, %:ﬁ;%‘g
If I could get agreement from fhe A.E.C, to transfer custody, %ggg
it could probably be easily arranged, but if the decision must be made “‘g?,a
by The President I hoped it could be preasented to him as a ;jo:lht recome gc’z%%
mendation of both military and A,E.C. The problem then was to sell the 2
idea to the A.E.C. a

A visit to a custody site was arranged, All A.E.C. commissioners
.\ and all M.L,C., members were to attend. At the 1gst minute Lilienthal dew
clineq but the four others went. We jointly inspected the storage site,
the personnel charged with protection, security, and transfer,
. ' On the plane returning I tried to get the commissioners to agree
fo a transfer of custody. They held the opinion, however, that no change
éhou]:d be made but agreed to a presentation to The President at which time
" each group would i)resent its position,
| I then presented my position to Forrestal who studied it and asked
me to draw up a recommendation to The President,
This was a difficult document to prepare, I inew The President

was; very busy and, therefore, the document should be brief and to the

" “point, Tt should speak solely from the standpoint of national sec:ux-ity#'m”mw
:'.but at the same time minimize the effects on international relations and
.\. domestic reaction. Forrestal approved the document and asked me to make
* the presentation to The President,
On July 21, 1948, (Forrestal Diary-Page 460) Forrestal, Royall,
Symington and I, representing the Military Establishment, and Lilienthal,
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Weymark Pike and Barker, renrese'ting the Atomig nergy Fommission,

met with The President in The White Youse. I presented the milita:y
position and handed the President the statement I had drawn. Lilien-
thal then presented objections on what I thought were Vei‘y intangible
bases. The Président appeared to listen intently and then stated that
the use of the bowd could he ordered only by himself and he did not pro-

pose to delegate this responsibility. le did not corment on custody so
' we left wondering what his decision might be,

Several days passed and then one nf the President's assistants
brought me a White House press release for comrent. It clearly indi-

cated that-the President had turned down our recommendation. I took

it at once to Forrestal who had not beon informed of the Pregident's

decision. He was very disappointed with the decision and annoyed that

the information came to him in such an indirect manner. He agked me if

1 didn't think he should resign, saying he thought that more govern

ment officials should resign when their viewpoints were thus disregarded.

6 1 S P 4 S ST

e

I wrged him not tn, - o
v‘ . —‘-W

I drew up directiveg for Forrestal to issue immediately to var-

- 1ous military agencies to provide for maximum efficiency in handling

atomic weapons even though the A.E.C, retained custody.'

Although the A,E.C. won the decision, the whole affair had cen-
iuzruJ so much attention on their shortcomings of custody and transfer
that they took effective steps to obtain maximum efficiency. The out-

come was a vastly improved procedure even though the A.E.C. retained

-~ custody,

By this time Louise and Judy had moved to Washington and we
were 1iving in a delightful old house awned by Rev, llatch Sterrett,
Mrs. Sterrett was apprehensive about renting her house furnished with
many interesting old pieces of furniture and china but after hearing

that our house in Connecticut was also old she was willing,
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We were very specific about the term of lease, It was to be

until October 1st, I had started April ist and was going to return
home in six months, that meant October 1st, I was very definite on
that point and made it known in all my contacts that I would leave on
October 1st,

The house was on Springland Lane in a grove of woods right in

the middle of the city behind the Bureau of Standards, I believe it

. was one of a very few which stood between Washington and Chevy Chase

years ago.

Here our social 1ife w‘aé very quiet. We didn't know many people

. and my government position being drand new didn't "rate" in the official

protocol, so we had few callers or invitations. We did, however, enter-
tain several friends who came to Washington. I recall Ernest Lawrence,

Charlie Thomas, Carleton Ward, Bill Hosford and a few Washington people-

¥r. and Mrs, Forrestal. General and Mrs. Frank McCoy, Harold and Kitty

Stark, F'reddie Hyde, General and Mrs. Al Gruenther, Rus and Helen Hopley
and a few others,

The Atomic Energy Act was confusing on the intent of Congress

- rehtiye to our disclosure to the British of technical information of

military significance. To understand the meaning of Congress, Forrestal
called a meeting with Senator Vandenburg, Senator Hickenlooper, Commise
sioner Strauss, Van Bush and myself to review the intent on this matter.

(See Forrestal Diary-Page 471),

- The discussion did not clarify the situation but confirmed the

-~ eonfusion; —I had-been tipped off by the Navy ONI (Office of Naval In-

formation) that there was "something wrong at Harwell," They didn't
quite know but they susp'ected a leak of vital secret information come
ing from the British atomic laboratory - llarwell, Here was a very ser-
ifous situation. Our own position was confused and we suspected a leak,

Under the circumstances I recommended to Forrestal that we immediately
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stop sending the British further atomic information until the situation

‘ | was clarified, He apgreed so I called the British embassy. They ae:nt
~- over a Mr, Woodward, scientific attache! I told him of our decision,
' He "hit the roof." Apparently he sent word at once to London and a come
mission was diépatched from London to register their objectionms,
This occurred at the time I was turning my job over to Bill
Webster as my successor. My action put him in the best possible posia
tion. He could continue to refuse to give information and blame me
‘or he could loosen up to any extent he wished, |
When the word came out later that Klaus J, E. Fuchs, a Harwell
scientist had traitorously disclosed very important secrets to the
Russians, I was very glad I had taken a firm position,
. 1 had set the date of my departure as October 1st. That was
definite, I told Forrestal that if he wished it I would be willing to
- find and train a successor, but if I were unmable to do so, I would leave
anyway, *
| I was very fortunate in finding Bill Webster for the a ssignment,
He was an Annapolis and ¥,I,T. graduate who had left the sérv:lcé and be-
come Vice Pre‘sident of the New England Power Company. He came to Washe
ington -as ny assistant. Whetfe I had been concentrating on problems of
Aorganization, he directed his attention to specific projeéts. I felt
it made a good team, He worked with me for a month and was in excellent
+ position to take over when I lef't,
Van Bush had frequently attempted to bring into more general use
... the principles of "operations analysis" which had proven-to-be very-suce---
cessful in many instances during the war, particularly in the Navy.
. ‘Bush visualized a "Weapohs Systems Evaluation" group which would apply
’\_\  scientific principles to the evaluation of different systems of defense.
Since it.Was,a highly scientific technique which frequently ran counter
to typical military procedures, he felt it should be manned by civilians
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rather than military personnel. ~He felt that the evaluations

@

™

should play an important part in the plans and programs developed
by the Joint Chiefs of Staff,

. One day Forrestal handed me a file on this subject and asked
me to give him my opinion, I‘studied {t over the weekend and al-
though I recognized it as a very broad subject on wuch of which X
was uninformed, still I had the feeling that although the techniques
were undoubtedly of great value, still the preparation of the evale
uations should be under the jurisdiction of the persons held rea
_sponsible for operating the ;esults-the J.C.S.

This I reported to Forrestal., He told me Bush wouldn't like
my answer. He wﬁa right for within half an hour Van came storming
into my office demanding that I mind my own business and refrain

.\- .' from interfering with his.

.

; I told him I was answering a question'asked me by the Secre-
T taff and that being a scientist he could not take offense if I
"answered it in just the manner I felt was right. He couldn't dis-
agree, but he didn't 1like it. lHe was not at all well and went on
an .extended trip, The matter was far from settled,

The feud between the Navy and the Air Force was getting worse-
it was reaching the point where it influenced nearly every decision.
At the meetings at Key West the services had reached certain conclu-
sions which h elped to outline their roles and missions, But

-

gserious controversies were always cropping up. The conflict inter-

" fered with our M.L.C. business and I told Forrestal I felt it must
be stopped before we could make further progress, My comment was,
‘ - I'm sure, only one of many. He, himself, fully realized that an.
‘ other approach to the problem was a necessity.
A meeting was called at the Newport, R.I., Naval War College,

Forrestal asked wme to attend and I flew in his plane with Harold
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Hinton, who headed the Military Establishment publicity, For-
' restal, General Gruenther, and Jack Ohly, one of Forrestal's

~

special asaistants.,

We put down at Quonsett Airport where planes of General
Vandenberg, General Bradley, Admiral Denfeld all arrived with
these military chiefs and their planning deputies, General Norstad,
General Hedemeyor:gnd Admiral Radford.

o - It was a comfortable spot. I had tennis with Hinton, Col-
onel Bob Wood, Forrestal's new aidg,and Al Gruenther, Forrestal,
Admiral Radford and I had a swim and Radford and I went out for

. a turn about the harbor in a Navy launch., Most of the time, howe
- ever, was strictly business |
) | At the J.C.S. meeting, chairmanned by Forrestal, the Air
‘\ Force-Navy squabble was ‘se'ttled on the basis that the Navy would
' ‘ opgrgte such aviation as was necessary for Naval purposes includ-
"ing a force to strike enemy submarine pens, navy yards and land

. based planes attacking naval shipé. The Navy would not, however,

: conduct strategic ﬁombing except to the extent that it was planned

. by the AirAForco as an auxiliary to their activities, This seemeaq

" to me to be an improvement, but the Navy would never believq that
the Air Force would plan any Navy strategic bombing and the Air
Force would continue to suspect the Navy of exceeding its roles.,

.It wag like the forcible stopping of a fight bdetween two boys who

-

were ready to go at it again on the slightest provocation, but it

h

—gave-a-tasis-for soms nosded dscisions and was, therefore, an im-
provement,
.\ Another matter on the agenda was the status of AFSWP, This
i agency under General Nichols had been reporting to the J.C.S.,
ratﬁer than to any single service, The Air Force wanted it to come

under its monitorship though remaining as a tri.service agency.
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I had been studying the problem and Forrestal urged that I make a

récommendation quickly. Because of the urgency I proposed, as a
temporary arrangement, that the Air Force assume monitorship dbut
that this be considered a temporary arrangement pending fina; de-
termination. The Newport meeting accepted this plan although they
accepted it so vigorously that I feared it would be difficult to
.nqvé the Air PForce out of their supposedly temporary advantage,
It was! . | |
. My lafer report recommended that each service be permitted

to work on its own application of atomic energy, that the activities
be coordinated by M.L.C. and that AFSWP be continued only to handle
those activities which could not be delegated to the services, The
" Teason for my recbmmendation vas simple~.Il felt the most progress
would be made by the people most interested in the results. So

far we had thought: of airborne bombs only, ' Why not let army ord.
ﬁa;Qe work on atomic projectiles, navy ordnance work on atomic
torpedoes, and other military agencies work on items of interest

to them, I felt this would accelerate progress, stimulate atomic
training and be much simpler to handle administ;atively. Some
duplication of activities could be permitted without detriment

and the M.L,C. would act as a coordinating agency,

I had discussed this plan with Dr, Karl T. Compton who had
succeeded Van Bush as head of the Research levelopment Board, He
agreed with my plan. General Nichols, head of AFSWP, opposed it

--ag-tt-would-largely breakup that agency. Tha AiF Force opposed

it as it would result in their losing monitorship over most of the

atomic wofk in all three services, Many M.L.C. members were appre-
hensive that the move was too drastic., Some felt the transition
would cause a period of confusion and weakness which could be i1l

afforded at that time - the Berlin Air Lift was at its height and
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When Farrestal reviewed the plan I suspect he was hesif
tant to make a change, The waters had been muddy so long that he
did not want to disturb them again even though the proposed plan
might be an improvement, Me, therefore, suggested that it should
be deferred. It was., I doubt if 1t has ever gone into effect al.
though two years later I was called to Washington to confer on a
problem of organization on military atomic activity and told the
officials that the recommend;tiona of the previous report woﬁld
solve their prodblem. They pulled the report from the file and ex-
praessed regret that the recommendations had not been put into
effect years ago. They said that, although they felt them sound,
they hesitated to make the move "at that time." So it wasn't made
- and for the second time the military stalled in doing what they
~thought was right, | )

. But again I'm ahead of my story, DBack at Newport the guese.
~tion of Van Bush's recommendation that a Weapons Systems Eva;ua-
tion group be organized under the Rescarch Development Board was
brought up, This was the matter on which my advice to Forrestal
had been at such variance to Bush's recommendation. Bush wanted
civilian organization and control with reports direct to the
Secretary of Defense, I recormended J.C.S. control but substan-
tial participation by the Research Development Board in the organ-
igation and operétinn of the group,

-;Mwithheld comment, After some very vigorous discussion it was ap-
parent the whole evaluation group concept would be voted down, and
Bush's recommendation would he completely defeated. I thought the
evaluation program good and did not wish to see it discarded so I
recommended that the group should be organized ané operated by

R.D.R. but reporting ton J.C.S. This saved the dav and thew -4
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Van Bush didn't like it much tut couldn't be so annoyed as @e
realized the plan would have been completely abandoned if I hadh't
proposed the alternate, |

. It was at this Newport meeting that General Al Gruenther made
one of his best humorous remarks. He had a marvelous sense of
* humor as did Forrestal, A question of some procedure was brought
up and discussed at length without any apparent progress being made
bf the three 4-star generals and admirals and three S-star officers,
At this point, Gruenther, who was only a 2-star general and the most
‘Junior of ficer present, spoke up "Mr. Secretary, it is apparent
there is not enough ability here to solve this prodblem., I recome
mend, therefore, that it be assigned to their subordinates.” A
.'gopd laugh followed., Only Gruen;her could have gotten away with
‘such a remark, He was and still is an amazingly able man,

-“ﬁanw very serious problems of natiomal security were discussed
at Newport, The public did not generally realize their serious
‘potentialities. Forrestal mentioned the difficulty in securing the
services of competent civilians. One particular problem he mene
'tiQhed was the chairmanship of the Munitions Board.

Gene Hargrave was chairman. He was serving part time, the dal-
.ance being devoted to the Eastman Kodak Company of which he was
- President. He had agreed to serve for one year, His year was up

and he was eager to be relieved, On the other hand, Forrestal had

reluctance of businoss people to take such assignments and partially
because it was close to election time. Everyone expected the Dem-
ocrats to be thrown out of office so no Democrat was interested in
accepting an appointment which might last only for a few months and

no Republican cared to be appointed by a Democrat when he could wait
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a few months to be appointed by a Republican, The matter was at

.\' a stalemate, .

Forrestal approached me on the matter, He said I had gained
the confidence of the military, I was fairly familiar with the
ways of Washington and also with industry. He realized I had
agreed to come to Washington for six months only but he urged that
I accept appointment as Chairman of the Munitions Board for Jjust
three months to tide him over the electiong. He promised that he
would not put me under obligation to stay longer than that.

Y told him I had come for six months only and didn't gsee how
I could stay longer. I would, however, try to put him in touch
:with some recently retired members of the du Pont Company who
might consider such an appointment, |
.ﬁ o ~ Ruly Carpenter came to Washington and talked with Forrestal,
Re was greatly impressed with Forrestal himself and with the prob-
lem. A few weeks later he invited Forrestal and me to dinner in
his home in Delaware at which a number of recently retired members
of the du Pont Conp;ny wore present, Forrestal was to presegt his
story to them hoping to secure their interest and assistance,

He told his story, but much to my surprise, instead of urging
them to serve, he urged them to permit me to do 80, It was an
unexpected turn of events, I was told du Paont would have no ob-
Jections to my staying on but that decision rested with C. K. Davis,
Presideut of Remington Arms Company, ﬁnd myself, I flew to Bridge-

“porkt In Forrestal's plane and talked to C.K. It was agreed that
ny leave would be extended to and that X'd accept..

.\ B - -The entire matter was a great surprise to me., Of course, X
was consdious of the honor of being comsidered for the chairmanship
of the Munitions Board, I was also conscious of Forrestal's dif-

ficult situation and nf the importance to national security. I was
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unfamiliar with the activities of the Munitions Board but had
confidence that 1 could handle them as I had apparently handled
my other assignments, So X toid Forrestal I would accept the
appointment provided I would not be obligated to stay beyond
three months. He said he would see that neither he nor the Re-
publicans would put me under pressure to stay longer,
On'ém:sim ber [£.794€ T was sworn in as Chairman of the Nuni-
tions Board. Again publicity was withheld at my request.
I lunched one day with Forrestal and Mr, Henry Cabot Lodge,
The discussion was on the transition in the Military Establish.
ment from the Democratic to the Republican Adminietration., I
didn't realize it at the time but Lodge told me later than when
‘\ ‘ >thc Republicans won (as th'ey fully expected they would) .Dewey
would look to me to handle the transition in the Military Estab-
li;hnent. Just what that would mean I li never know as the Re.
publicans did not win. |
Bill Webster took over as Chairman of the Military Liaison
* . Commission and deputy to Forrestal on atomic activities. I was
happy to have such an able successor who was_ g0 thoroughly fam-
iliar with tiie agssignment,
Gene Hargrave was delighted fo be relieved of the onerous
] uiponnibility of commuting dback and forth from Rochester to Washe
ington, Forrestal seemed to be well pleased that he could 1ive up

¥ hils promise to reileve Hargrave and also to have a full-time
Chairman of the Munitions Board who would not have to divide his
@.  attention between military and industrial activities.

For us, however, it was a bit different, We had made all our

plans expecting to return to Connecticut on October 1st, The lease

on our Washington house ran out and we had to scratch around to

R
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.\ to find another, That was no easy matter and it was by the nerqet'
a- coincidence that we were able to rent a house at 11 Grafton Street,

Chevy Chase, We moved and settled promptly and "set up business at
our new 1ocation,"
Judy started school in The Cathedral Schaol and we arranged
for another tenant in our house in Southport.
Knowing that our stay in Washington was temporary, Louiss, Judy
and I spent busy weekends seeing the sights., We visited The Smith-
. sonian, The Capitol, The Pentagon, the Lincoln and Jefferson Memor-
jals, the Chesapeake and Ohio Canal, the Great Falls of the Potomac,
the paddle boats in the dasin, Hounf Vernon and others.
Forrestal and General McCoy proposed me for membership at the
ChavyIChase Country Club, - We never became members because our
name did nof come to the top of the waiting 1ist until three or
four years after we had left Washington. ' We used the club quite
often, however, at tha invitation of our old friend, Freddy Hyde,
and Mr, and Mrs, Dillard Lassiter, all of whom lived at the club,
We had tennis there with the Roberts family, Captain "Brick" Roberts
of ihe Navy and his wife Virginia and daughter Barbara (Boots) -
have been good friends whom we have seen from time to time ever
since, '
' The respansibilities of the Nunitions Board surprised me,
- - The name implies only munitions, bBut the board is actually a top
__.__.policy making and unifying agency in-practically-all-non=operattomat
fields, It was responsible for determination of policy for the
" - Xilitary Establishment in industrial mobilization, manpower, pro-
el cureuént and transportation, and was an operating agency in stock-
piling strategic materials and unification of military facilities.
Very few, if any, people eithar inside or outside the Military
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Establishment knew what the responsibilities were that were as-
signed to the Munitions Board, For that reason we were frequently
in the awkward position of interjecting ourselves into activities
alfeady cdntenphted by others who did not know of our interests
thersdin,

The Board consisted of Gordon Gray, Assistant Secretary of
the Army, John Kenney, Under Secretary of the Navy, who was later
succesded hy Assistant Secretary of the Navy Koehler, and Arthur
Barrows, Under Saecretary of the Air Force with myself as Chairman,
The Board had a staff of about 400(?) officers, enlisted men and

.cdvilians, The directar of the staff was Lt., Gen., Leroy Luteas.

gU:_:der. him wers Major Gemeral Sidney Spaulding, Rear Admiral Dennebrin
and Major General Patrick Timherlake, a tri-service group eachf

whop was responsible for a sector of the staff activities,
‘ Problems or proposed policies would be presented to the board
or generated by it or its staff, They would be analyzed by the
staff and a proposed decision presented to the board for consider-
ation at the weekly meetings. |
‘ The Munitions Board was originally organized as a voluntary
cooperative activity between the Aruy and the Navy, It picked up

some of the activities performed in World War I by Baruch and his

" Nar Industries Board, During World War II it was very active in

allocating materials between the services, When the "Unificaticn
Act" was passed the Munitions Board first became a statutory board =

with a chairman appointed by the President and confirmed by the

Senate,

The unification act also created the Nationmal Security Coun-
cil, the National Security Resources Board, the War Council, the
Joint Chiefs of Staff and the Research Development Board, The
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activities of these were quite clearly understood except the

' National Security Resources Board, It was always a problem to
differentiate between the responsibilities of the Munitions
Board and the National Security Resources Board, In general, it
can be said that the N,S.R.B, was a service representing all
Government agencies and the Munitions Board only represented the
military, This was never entirely clear and we were frequently
- overlapping in our activities, Arthur Hill was Chairman of the
N.S.R.B, The Board was mde up of the Secretaries of Defense,
State, Treasury and Interior (?)., It never had a meeting while
I was on the Munitions Board., I considered it a véry vague sort of
organization,
" As Chairman of the Munitions Board I becan.e Forrestal's
, .\ ~ deputy on the N.S.R.B., a member of the War Council and the
p!j#pggry official of the Military Establishment on all matters
pertaining to industry, manpower and stockpile. As such I ap-
peared frequently before Congressional Committees, These ap-
peé.mncea are greatly dreaded, particularly by military officers
who are frequeantly put through pretty stiff cross-examination,
They feel that a civilian has a much bhetter chance as a witness
than doess an officer and I mr esume they are right, Members of
- Congress seem to look on military officers as a sort of servant,

regardless of their rank;.

There were several occasions when they jumped on me but I

S ”'“”““““"""""ﬂm‘f'mewﬁm. Ilaving given up all compenga=
tion except my government salary, I was in a strong position,

‘ ' One episode that -1 enjoy recalling was when there were
several bills before the House generally providing government

funds for exploration and development of mineral deposits in

- —_
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several of the western states. X didn't 1ike the bills decause

’\ they purported to use government funds for operations which are
customarily handled by private enterprise. Furthermore, I felt
there would be nothing forthcoming except the use of taxes raised
largely in the east to sg;':dmn "rat holes"” in the wesat,

The hearing was attended by twenty or thirty press reporters.
They were just waiting for me to let a word elip that these bills
would be beneficial to National Defense. The chairman tried hard
to crowd me into such a satement by such questions as - "Mr, Car.
penter, if manganess were found as a result of these bills wouldn't
it ve beneficial to National Security?” The answer, of course,
would be "Yes," and the committee and the press would have just
what they wanted -~ an opportunity to promoté these bills in be-

P half of National Security,

_I didn't want to say "Yes," I could aay the bills were econ-~
onicauy illogical as they would caution me that such a determina-
tion should be made by Keyserling of the Preaildent's Econonmic
Council. IX couldn't say they wouldn't find adequate supplies of
manganess - that was for the Bureau of Mines to say. So.I ducked

" and dodged, | .

Finally Congressman White from ldaho said "Mr, Carpenter, you
.' aren't very sympathetic to our part of the country, are you?"

"Mr, Congreagman, " I replied, “there's nothing I would en-

joy more right now than being in Idaho.” That slowed him down,

"7 When he asked what I knew about Idahoe, I told him the first
Job I had after getting out of the Army in World War I was play-
<9 ing a fiddle in a barroom just over the line in Oregon,

"Bh", he said, "You are one of the boys, I thought you came
from Wall Street,"
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"I've never been there in my 1ife," 1 answered,

That quieted him but later he said . "Mr., Carpenter, is thag all

~you know about Idaho?”

By this time I was getting a bit annoyed sa I answered, "Mr,
Congressnan,'l've walked from the southwest corner to the central
portion of Idaho and surveyed much of it! Have you dome that, Mr,
Congressman?® That finished 1it.

The next day I was delighted to see neﬁapaper headlines indicat.
ing that The Military did not favor these bills. They were-heyer
passed,

Another hearing on legislation pertaining to government purchas-
ing procedure was very confusing., I couldn't make head or tall of it,
Fbrtqnatély. Gordon Gray appeared ﬁith me and knew his subject more
thoroughly, so he handled most of the questions.

When Forrestal presented the proposed budget for the Military
Establishment it was the first time a combined Army-Navy-Air Force
Budgat_waa presented. He had his Special Assiastant, Bill McNeil,
present it and Dr, Coupton, Chairman of the Research and Development
Board, and Y were present, As I recall it, the budget ran in the
neighborhood of 15 billion dollars. |

The budget is presented in several large volumes and members of
all services and agencies are called to teatify. It secms to me im-
possible for a Congressional Committse to handle such a huge matter
intelligently, About all they can do is to detect a few "soft spots"

and recommend reduction in these,

Experienced fiscal ot ficers know how the committee will work
and frequently they intentionally put in "soft spots™ for the comw

mittee to find so they will not interfere with the more important
items.

Every committee, no matter how hostile, always has at least one
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member who 13 sympathetic to the viewpoint of the witness, Occg;
a;ondlly this member will aék what questions you would like hiu‘to
" ask in order to bring out your arguments,
R A member of the Executive Branch of the Government is expected
to present testimony according to adrinistration policy. When he
is asked'a question, however, he is generally expected to answer it
accurately., The method of planting questions is sometimes used by
'individuals to air their personal views when they don't "gee” with
official policy. I never used this device. )

Since I was unsympathetic with much of the administration poldicy
I was frequently called upon tn testify on a subject'whero my perw
sonal beljefs were in opposition., In these cases I would always tell
‘Forrestal, and later Secretary Johnson, how 1 felt and how I would
testify, If they wanted other testimony given, they should send
someone elée. Theyvnever did.

}n extreme case of this nature was in connection ‘with the "Spence
Bill®. This was practically the keystone of Truman's legislative pro-
gram of "Economic Stabilization." The bill provided that the govern-
ment should make surveys of the most important materials and ser-
vices, If they found any which appeared 1nadeqﬁata they could urge
the companies involved to push ahead faster, If they still felt
- the plans to be inadequate, then the govermment could step into the
industry to construct and operate facilities., The steel industry

seemed to be the prime target and the bill was bast known as the .. .

one which would put the government into the steel business..
'Phpers on this bill were handed to me one Friday afternoon by
th?'uunitiona Board staff. They had prepared my testimony for ne
and I was to give it on Monday morning. Forrestal had asked that. I
handle the testimony for the Military Establishment on this bill.
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This gave me only the weekend to consider it, I should have
‘\_ been informed earlier, but wasn't,so all weekend I studied the legis-
- lation and the voluminous data prepared by the staff, I didn't like
the' péb’poaod testimony a bit so I wrote a new statement, I finished
it Sunday midnight and was prepared to give it early Monday morning.
Honday morning the radio announced that Truman had returned
frorp his vacation at Key West and was going "up on the Lill" to
press for his -“econogic stabilization legisiation. That meant the
Spence Bill and I would be testifying againsf it at the same time
the President was pushing for it. It was a very illogical situa-
tion, so I promptly pointed it out to Forrestal, He called in
Louis Johnson who"was soonlto become Sacretary of Defense,
Porrestal said he would assign soreone else if it were embar-
rassing to me. )I told hiw it wouldn't'be embarrassing to me but
.\' probably would be for the administration so they might send some-
| one &lse if they wished, They jointly decided, however, that if I
- was willing, I should make the statement the way I saw it,
" Half an hour later I was informed the hearings were called off,
Apparently they couldn't afford to have an adverse statement by the
Military Establishment. The bill has never been revived,
'On another occasion, Secretﬁry Johnson asked me to represent
the Military Establishment at a meeting of some kind where plans
for subsidizing oil exploration in NMexico were to be formulated,

. I told him X'd attend if he wished but that I was opposed to the

PR SUNRREVSR———

cabinet to su?port the legislation. I told him I dida'*t want to
. vote that way. He said he'd send an Admiral to cast the vote but
.‘ wanted me there., I told him if the vote was to be cast in that
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plans, and I told him why, He said The President had asked the
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Next day Johnson told me he'd presented ﬁ?’;¥£uﬁﬁht at an-:
‘I'\ other cabinet meeting and now I could attend the meeting and vote '

a- as I wished: )X went, but wasn't called upon to vote because the
chairman, knowing my position, dropped the matter, It's never
come up sihce.

Many times at a meeting X'd remain silent while a subject
was discussed with an apparent agreement along lines which seemed
to me to be unsound, Generally, my viewpoint would be requested
and I'd say I didn't know anithing about government or military
but in business I'd think we would do it another way. Invariably
heads would nod and frequently the vote would be changed,

This sounds pretty egotistical as I read it, but I honestly

[ | don't mean 1t that way, My point is that when a man with some
‘ ' anuﬁd industrial experience accepts a bosition in government, he
.s' can i_nave profound influence over the actions to be taken even 1if
he~is fundamentally unsympathetic with the administration. I never
felt so free to state my position and I never had better support.
It's a great pity more people don't realize how effective they can
be. These reaultﬁ get no pudlicity but unfortunately the confu-
sioﬁ, the'criticisn, the futility and the public castigation do,
8o service in Washington has a bad name, It should be regarded
as a privilege but, instead, = person taking a Washington assign-
nent 18 regarded with a bit of suspicion, both by his associates
. in industry who thinks there's something wrong with him for going
__and by those in Washington who think the reason he came is that

he was a misfit in industry,
N The Munitions Board staff had more or less been the personal
‘\ agency of the Chairman and the actions of the board were those of

the chairman except to the extent they were modified by board mem-

bers., The three service members of the board lacked a feeling of
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I-hoped to correct this situatiop

unity with the board itself.

by making them feel it was their board and that I was there as:

chairman only to carry out their wishes and not to dictate,
Forrestal frequently asked if I didn't want more authority.

I told him I preferred it as it was as I wanted the board members
I'd try to

to feol_ the responsibility of the board's actions.
refrain from expressing my opinion until the board members had

This method of operation appealed to the

expressed theirs,
three board members and I had the feeling that we were making

progress in getting their cooperation,
My new office was palatial, My handsome desk was the one

used by General william Tecumseh Sherman when he was Chief of
It was beautifully carved but was more orna-

- Staff of The Army.
'mental than useful so I used it as a table for Board Neetings.

- Throughout The Pentagon there are thousands of paintinga of
soldiers and sallors in combat., Some are excellent, s ome poor,

They seemed highly appropriate in all areas except that of the
¥unitions Board, Here we wers interested in the large army of

industrial workers whohad supplied huge quantities of ships,

;5 ga’? guns, amgunition, petroleum, uniforms, food, medicine and the
§ f?\\ millions of items needed by our armed forces and also for our
§ fggé; allies. This part of the military effort was given tao 1ittle
g,gg § | consideration, |

= All military pictures in our area were taken down and re-

placed by pictures of men at work in industry. Thay changed .

Business men who came in would say

the atrosphere of our area.
"Somehow I feel more at home here than anywhere in Washington."

The iilltary offices gained greater anpreciation of the need of
General Omar Bradley on one

industrial backing for their plans.
occasion looked at the pictures in my office and said "Don, these
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men did a big job for us in the war, didn't they!"
When an industrialist called at our office we kept contact

with him until he got his answer. On too many occasions in Wash.

“ington a man 1s passed from one agency to another until he goes

"hahe nithout his answer and thoroughly disgusted.

The moat specific activity of the Board was probably the
stockpiling of strategic materials, The Munitions Board staff &//

- had made a thorough study of important items which would be in

2013

,;7"

short supply during an emergency and had determined what would
be needed in a gtockpile which would serve the civilian economy
as well as the military, That this was to serve civilian as well
as nilitary requirements was seldom understood,

There were relatively few items to be stockpiled and some

. of them were quite surprising, I could understand the need of

stockpiling manganese and platinum and tin, but I never would
hafe thought of pepper or aiaal; These were very important,
however, and had to be procured,

We made up a large bar chart showing each item, indicating
the amount needed and the amounts on hand, It was a very large
cﬁart, so large that when it was placed in a room it almost
filled a whole wall, It was called the "pipe organ". We showed
it to the War Council, to the Joint Chiefs of Staff, to the

National Security Resources Board staff, to Congressional Com-

| mittees, to the Bureau of the Budget, and to the President's

Council of Economic Advisors, It did a gfeat deal to clarify

¢

" understanding of the stockpile. It showed very clearly how far
. we were behind in the requirements of our program,
At that time many materials were im short supply in the
c¢ivilian economy, Industry was being hampered by shortage of

copper and lead., Producers of these metals were allocating their
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production and there was & great demand for larger quantit;es.

This was a difficult time to procure quantities of these items

for the stockpile,
In accordance with existing legislation the Munitions

Board could work closely with the Secretary of Commerce in con-
Secretary Sawyer and I called in the cop-

tacting industries.
The heed was recognized but no company wanted
If

per industry,

to sell the government if its own customers were in need,

all companies supplied proportionately equal amounts, the "smelt-

ers® would be satisfied.” We tried several arrangements but ail
Finally T told them

were opposed by the Department of Justice,
we would try to engage the services of Mike Swartz of Bridgeport
The spelt-

Brass Company who hgp handled copper during the war,

ers agreed to be governed by Mike's judgment.
Herman Steinkraus, President of Bridgeport Brass, agreed

"“to grant Mike a leave of absence and Mike reported to the job
It was the first copper entering the

and procured copper..
stockpile since the war. -
The story was the same on lead, only worse. Lead was very

My own company, Remington Arms, was badly in need of
This time we engaged Ernest

'g scarce,

§%§§ §§ lead. But we‘had to secure some.

gé’f ~ Hawkins in whom the members of the industry had great confi-

§§’§% dence, Through him we began to procure lead, Once again this

gé"?’a" was the first since the war,

éhggg A year or so later Secretary Johnson, at a large dinner of
the American Ordnance Association, stated that a substantial

start had beén made on the stockpile, "thanks to Don Ca;penter."
' Later,

In 1948 it was difficult to buy and prices were high,

in early 1949, however, business dropped of f and supplies were
Prices fell and companies begged us to buy. It was

abundant.
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an ideal time to buy from every standpoint, but congress '
.\ . wouldn't appropriate the money and we couldn't,
Later, when the Korean War broke out, I believe the stock-
pile was in somewhat better shape but still far short of require-
| nments, At that time Senatorm of Tennessee, Chairman of
the Senate Appropriations Committee, issued a public statement
that the Military was lax in procuring materials and he was
going to institute a congressional investigation to uncbvor‘
. the shameful laxity. 1 phoned Hubert Howard, then Chairwan
of the Hunitions Board, téiling him i'd welcome Dbeing called
| as the first witness so I could testify haow the ¥unitions Board
| had bngg:;: ){S(e::?:or m to push appropriations hut he had not
' acted. KeCarram never atarted his investigation.
Tin was one of the most important items in the stockpile.
.\ In spite of restrictions on certain tin cans such as bveer and
’d'a'g food, and in gspite of the {hinner coating of tin which had
been developed during tﬁe’war, tin was still in very shoi-t sup-
ply. Furthermore, the sources of tin are remote, Most of it

comes from Malaya and the East Indies, a smaller quantity coming

% from Bolivia, In either case, there was great uncertainty of
%%%% the friendliness towards the United States by the suppliers and
?:zg—%: their workmen in case of emergency and the ocean lanes would re-
g;g%?g quire substantial naval protection, so stockpiling was important.
%%%g‘ Tin, however, is very expensive and the quantities large, so

U Wmmmmww e
chart helped budget officials and congressional committees to

understand the situation, anpropriations were never adequate

¢

and when the Korean crisis broke out I learned that the stock-

pile was too small, I had the satisfaction of knowing, however,
that we had made substantial additions to it,




.\ At this time Keyserling, then Chairman of the President's
a- Board of Economic Adviaors,}gdwocated a plan which I could not
endorse. He propoged a new corporation which would buy critical
materials, then raise funds by borrowing, using the same nmater-
jals as collateral. I couldn’t see how we could properly pledge
critical materials as collateral. It would be quite possible
that when we needed them most some creditor might call them., The
plan seemed to me to a subterfuge, We argued it out with Key-
gerling and he dropped it.
On another occasion, General Vaughn, the President's Military
Alde, asked us to loan quantities of platinum to a company
operating on a defense contract. We could not find where national
defense would be served by such a loan and couldn't see any good
.‘ reason for loaning platinum from the stockpile. I refused. I
was told I'd be fired and I stated that I'd welcome being fired
for then I could go home. That was the end of that,

Our estimates of supplies and requirements and those?&he
National Security Resources Board both indicated that aluminum
uoul& be in very short supply in an emergency. Only about half
the needed facilities existed for the production of this import-
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ant metal, and some of the existing plants were being demolished.
It was a very 1llogical situation which came about because of the

s - government's anti-trust suit against the Aluminum Company. Plants
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which could be used by Kaiser or Reynolds were sold to them,.  Plants. .. ..

which they could not use or would not buy were demolished rather
than permitting Alcoa to acquire them. Thus in the face of a ser-

“ ious sﬁortage, the government's policies were making it worge.
The situation required immediate action to stop the destruc-

tion of these valuable plants and then we could argue about it later,
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'So I ordered Major General Patrick Timberlake to do what he thought
.\ necessary to preserve the plants, He was in a difficult positi.oni.
for so many government agencies had become involved, One plant on
the west coast was being sold bit by bit. The generators had been
sold to a fofeign government by some scrap dealers who bought it
from our government. To stop the sale, the State Government and

Paul Hof fman'‘s E.C.A. had to be brought in., General Timberlake was

able to save what there was but we incurred the resentment of the |

Department of Justice. A rumor was repeated to me that Mr. Bergson,

head of the Anti Trust Division had threatened to complain of my

actiong to the President, I told my imformer to tell Bergson to

go ahead., He didn't,

- Alcoa wanted to build a new plant in Alaska ~- the government
‘ opposeq the action so nothing was done,

’\ """»':':‘IA_. "weut to Tom Clark, Attorney General, to sacure some resolution
of thékprobleu. He agreed but before I cduld get back to Forrestal's
office to tell him, Clark changed his mind and so informed lorrestal.
The ﬁext move was for the Secretary to téke the matter up in a cabinet

' neet;pg -~ he did so and that was the end of it, nothing was done
and aluminum was in short supply at the outbreak of Korea, It was
a shameful situation where national security was slighted,
There were many attempts to use stock pile funds for the pur-
chage of non-critical materials. 1n 1949, when business was de-
- pressed, the wool people wanted us to stockpile wool, Others
ww«4wmmvw~¥a§tsdw08~3GwhﬂﬁLGGFﬂ§~¢Fea~§PQE—J&Q&&*QB&**R&D&ﬂﬂMNTiﬂm’hOfﬁBr”“”W"W””
suggestions and requests, We didn't adopt them, however, because
our funds were inadequate to procuré the items which would be

o difficult to obtain in an emergency. Page determined to be Unclassified
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Stockpiling required far more than mere buying. In one case

we took steps to build up several hundred miles of railroad in
Asia, in another we considered dredging a river in South America

to get material out. In another we encouraged a company to plant

and harvest new crops in the tropics. Through E.C.A, we got mater-

lals from several European and African countries, we encouraged

some United States countries to set up foreign activities to pro-

duce some materials, We found the stockpiling activity called for

many unexpected and difficult tasks,
In the field of Industrial Mobilization the Munitions Board

was to set up procedures whereby the three services would not be

overlapping in their_ggggggggggﬁr There were three methods used,
Single service procurement of an item was the simplest and most

direct., All small arms ammuhition for a1l services was purchased

Coordinated procurement required a procuring office

‘.'N by the army,.
A third type called

staffed by members of each of the services.

‘- for a company to work with one service only, other services .

working with other companies. Chance Vbught Company, for instance

sold planes only to the Navy and North American sold only to the

3
2
§%u;§§ Air Force. VWe were continually adding to the list of items which
S5ge .
f‘}’ §¢ I~ were handled by single service procurement, but it was a slow pro-
%3
é‘g g g,s,- cess.,

©
,§§é' A single catalog of all military items was considered a de-
g §§ };"" - sirable objective, During the war there had been ingtances where

WMmMNMMWMM_nnamsgnyinn,nanﬁnut;ntwan“ixgnmnhgn_nngthszwac:zinswhndmii_hnt

couldn’t identify it because it was called by a different name,

The task of cataloging was huge. There were millions of items.

0f course it was desirable to standardize on them as much as

g

possible without 1nterjectin§ undue delay and lauk of flexibility.
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There was one member of the Secretary of Defense's staff who
had great ideas of cataloging., He proved to be an obstructionist

until w e found his objedtive was tn set cataloging up as a separate

. sort of bureau hoping he would be put in charge., After we discovered
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SEP 17 23

Reviewed Chief, RDD, WHS
IAW EO 13526, Saction 3.5

Date:

this he was discredited but we didn't make as much progress in cata-
loging as we would have liked, It was a big job.

. A satisfactory scheme of industrial mobilization requires the
knowledge and cooperation of thousands of companies., As I recall,
ﬁe thought contact with some 39,000 conpanies was important, Each
company should know who to contact, what they should make, how, when,
with what materials, what manpower, how to transport doth materials
and product, what power requirements, what new buildings or equip-
ment would be needed and so on, This was about the most difficult
selling job imaginable for 1t must be done 80 well it would be
thqugghly dependable in an emergency.

Under my prececessor, T, . Hargravé. Amnex 57 (7) was pre-
pared which gave all the details of tha.procurenent contact pro-
cedure, The plan appeared complicated but was actually fairly
simple,

Realizing that such a plan would not work unless it were
thoroughly supported I called a meeting of the chiefs of all
procurement agencies -~ 19 of thenm. I*4 never had so much "brass"

in my of fice, They were asked about the plan.

J

They indicated that they had never baen consulted on it and

TRt VETY TANLIiAT with 1ts provisions. A Tine sifuvation this?

L\

Here were the people who would do the actual procurement and, to say
the least, they were unfriendly to the plan. We set out to correct
that situation. One vital factor in such a plan is to ascertain

our requirements. We couldn't tell what we'd have to prepare to
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buy unless we knew what we would need. This was a matter for the:

Joint Chiefs of Staff to determine through their war plans. General

.”\

o

- Lutes kept pounding on this.
General Eisenhowsr was Chairman ol Joint Chiefs of Staff and
1 arranged s;me Joint meetings, he would chairman onc; I, the next,
It‘ helped to establish a closer working relationship, but we didn't
gét our list of requirments. They always said they couldn't cal-

culate requirements without knowing what kind of war we would have

We said someone must set a figure and if it ien't the

to fight.
We didn't get them

Joint Chief's of Staff then we would have to,
and some important companies refused to plan without knowing quantities.

The Bureau of the Budget assigned one of its members to study

the mission of the National Security Resources Board and Munitions

Board in order to clarify the confusion, After several weeks he

.\ ‘ came up with a paper which he read to se.
a 16t of words which were far from crisp,s Frankly, I couldn't

It sounded to me like

understand what he was getting at. ' I don't know what happened to

it.
_In preparation of the budget for industrial mnhilization we

B
§ 2., assembled and presented a combined budget for the three services.
§§§§ I was familiar with the ideas of Army Ordance in the maintenance
ggf,’: of present properties and the educational contracts they proposed.
ggg{fg’? The fiscal officer of the Army cut the budget substantially. I
§’§§§’ - I intervened and they restored it. HKhen it came to the Secretary
of Defense fiscal officer the same gituation-arcse-and-I-got—it— -
restored, Then it went to the Bureau of the Budget, Herc it was
.\ cut again. This time with Gordon Gray and General Jack Christmas
we made a presentation to the Bureau of the Budget showing among

other things that a contract calling for a few million dollars
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could develop as much "readiness" as the procurement of a billion

or so dollars worth of tanks, We won the argument and later IX

convinced General Dradley that tank requirements could be reduced

because of these readiness contracts.

It is difficult for field commanders ta place reliance on

“plans®, They would much prefer to see the "hardware® and have

- 1t under their igquiéte controls. But to buy it is expensive.

It costs money to store and maintain it, and there is always the
probability of its becoming obsolete. "Plans® which involve pilot
line operation and procurement of long delivery items afe far less
equnsive and much bette;. That 1s what we sold, but I'm afraid
it must be sold every year. It is difficult to build "readiness"
1n‘th1s fashion, but hundreds of millions of dollars are at stake.

I never became very muéh involved with plans for manpower
req?igements. The Munitions Board acted as a coordinating agency
for ;he services and pregented its requirements to General Hershey.
I don't recall any special episodes in this area soc it must have
prbceeded falrly smoothly.

-There was some uncertainty as to the responsibility of the
Munitions bBoard and Joint Chiefs of Staff in the field of trans-
portation of supplies to the combat area. Some thought it should
be done by the Munitions Boardj others thought it should be done
by the Joint Chiefs of Staff. I couldn't find anything in our
"charter” which called upon us to do it. One day the Joint Chigfs_ﬁ

of Staff bdrougut the matter upMEbr congideration, General Al
Wedemeyer left the Joint Chiefs of Staff meeting to phone me asking
if we would do it, I said we would not as it was not in nur dir-
ective. I think that had a wholesome effect on the Joint .Chiefs

of Staff as it clearly indicated we were not "empire bhilding."
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We always tried to get somenne else to do & job for us rather
‘.r\ than doing it ourselves. This is quite contrary to the practice of
many government agénciea who gobble up all they can just to "build
enpires.® Suéh agencies are looked upon with suspicion by all with
whom they come in contact. We avoided empire building scrupuleusly.
| Forrestal had asked me to head the Munitions Hoard just long
enough tn tide him over the elactions. Everyone expected the
Republic.a. ns would win, But they didn't, and what a confusion there
was. Houses had heen rented by Kepublicans who expected to have
Jobs in Washington, hotels had.booked their ronms to kepublicans for
the inauguratinn of bewey, .all manner of plans had been made, but
t0 no avail -~ Truman and the quocrats would stay for another term,
When I.arrived at my office one morning my very efficient
.\ secretary, Mrs. Moser, tql&'me I had an appointment with the President
in thg’White House at 11:90 a.m. That sounded bad. Later she told
ne P;orreotal's otfice called and asked if' the Secretary might drive
me over to the White llnuse, That sounded worse -- 1 knew what was
up, The big change in plans resultihg from electinn mean't there
was no one read& to take the chairmanship of the Munitions Board
'and I would be asked to stay on,
| In the cer Forrestal sald he was in a very embarrassing
situation because he had promised mne he would not urge me to stay

but that the President wanted me to stay on. I told him not to

worry about it but that 1 would 1listen to what:the FPresident had

to say but could make fi6 committiient without a 1ot mors conmgider=——""""
ation, |

’\ The President urged me to stay for the four years of his
administration but,if I couldn't, then for at least six monthse,
and said he intended tn write the President of du Pont to make
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it possible, I told him I had veen asked to come to Washington
." for aix months ohly, then I nad been urged to stay a few months
longer and was assured I would not be asked to prolong it, Now
I was being asked to stay ionger, if I should,what assurance would
I have that this time.I cnuld leave when my time was up. The
President told me he would agsure me I wouldn't bde urged to stay
longer unless there should he an emergency.
Forrestal and I left the White House with the understanding
that the President was writing Crawford Gree.newalt and i would
write hinm, Crawford and I wouid talk it over and then 1 would
give Forrestal and Truman my answer,
. I was, of course, pleased that they thougl'ut well ennugh of
‘my work to want me to stay on, I welcomed the opportunity te
‘ | carry on some of the prograine which we had gotten underway and
‘\ was pleased to be of assistance to lorrestal and National security.
On the other hand I was eager to get back to private industry to
resume my activities there, There was aiso an important financial
consideration hecause the saiary I was receiving from the goverument
was ?ery small compared with my compensation from Remingzton Arms
Coupany. |
Rank in Washington is frequently judged Ly salary. Since all
government salaries are publicly known it is quite easy to compare
a ‘bureau chief with a commissioner and with an assistant secretary.
On this basis I ranked between & secretary and an under secretary,
so-ny-satury-—was—quite—high—($17,600-as-I-recall)—but-stillt-with —
all the added expenses of living in Washington and the fact that rental

‘ on our Counnecticut house was taxable as income, I estimated very

approximately that the sojourn in Washington cost over 360,000,
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Truman wrote to Greenewalt, so did I. Later I saw him. It
was understood that nyhleavo would be transferred from Remingtong
to du Pont and that I would stay on until June 80th, Although
there was no indication as to what position I would occupj in
du Pont it was understood that I would not lose by the transfer.
That was satisfactory to me and I told Forrestal and Truman
that I would stay for anofher six months,

Later when Louls Johnson was Secretary of Defense he tried
hard to persuade me to stay on but I declined.

Since I was to stay six more months I felt we could make some
organizational changes which I had hesitated to do before., Thels
appeared to be four distinct functions, i.e., industrial mobilization,
procurement, -~ and unification of facilities., Each
was to be headed by a chief‘and an assistant chief, The first and
last being primarily civilian was to have a civilian chief and a

military assistant chief, The others wefe to have a military
 chief and civilian assistants, This would put a‘civilian.directly
in charge of industrial mobilization including the custody of
government owned plants. This was a new concept which was looked
upon with some skepticism by the military but hailed by suéh
civilian agencies as National Association of Manudactusiss U.S.
Chamber of Commerce, American Ordnance Association, etc.

Af ter a greatldcal of consultation and discussion, the Munitions

Board agreed to the change and so did Forrestal. We drew up a new

" organization chart which he signed, All looked well and I was sure
~We would begin to make much better progress, But then came the
hitch. I couldn't get géod men to take the jobs,

There were only five important positions to fill with civilians

and they were of extreme importance, One was to handle the stock-
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pile ' . -~ the procurement of $2.,7 biilion worth of scarce

materials. I considered it about the most difficult purchasing
Job in existence. Another was to take charge of over $12 billion
:ﬁorth of gofernuent owned plants, Some were to be demolished, some
converted, some sold, some leased, some turned over to government
agencies for their operation, and some put in "moth balls™ to be
ready for the next emergency. This job called for the highest
type of industrialist, He would he responsible for a plant which
in dollars exceeded U, S, Steel, du Pont, General Motors and General
Electric combined. A third job was to nrganize the industrial
mobilizﬁtion activity, clarifying the plans and introducing thenm
in 80,000 to 40,000 companies, I considered this about the biggest
selling job I had ever heard of. Another job was to bring about .
unification of faciliyies operated by the three services all over
the-wdrld. The extent of tiis was unpredictable but extremely
large.,

It never occurred to me that I could not find five high calibder
. men to handle these agsignments, but I couldn't. I secured lists
of pﬁssiblo candidates from many places. I wanted to be certain
that we had men of the highest capabilities, these were not assign-
ments for mediocre people -~ we wanted the best, I wrote aome;
I asked some to come in for discussion, I went to visit some, I
gdt others to contact some and after several weeks I had not

secured a man, In the process I talked with the representatives

of National Association of mwaiacfvrmwho hé.d been so enthusiastic
‘about our new organization, They arranged for some of their New

York of ficers to come to my office for a discussion. I was very
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hopeful, Shortly before the meeiing they ph%ﬁgi?tggy couldn't

"\. come .

National Association of Mpnulssturethad given me about as bad a

I never heard another word from them and concluded that

"brush off" as I could imagine. Now six years later I am still
thoroughly disgusted with N,A.M. for this action.

I talked with K. T. Keller of Chrysler hoping to get suggestions
on some proainent men in that company. He gsent in Hutchinson, vice
president and chairman of their finance committee. }They Just
couldn't seoc it. 1 talked to the policy committee of General
Motors and got a long letter from Harlow Curtis on why it was
impractical for an industrialist to serve in such a capacity.

I talked with Charles E. Wilson, president of General Electric.
He referred me to a very competent member of his organization who
.\4 would have been excellent. That man, however, refused to come even
' for a gonversation. It is interesting that he has since served in
Washington and has told me he was completély wrong in his previous
action.. I talked with “Chief® Wilsdn, president of Alcoa who put
e in touch with an excellent purchasing man but just then he had
a severe operation and couldn't consider it. I talked to Colonel
Walsh, president of the American Ordnance Association who said they
would look into the matter and hope to come up with some ideas.
They didn't, The National Industrial Conference Board indicated
they would help, the Krueger economic advisors also did and really

tried, Forrestal attempted to get some help but all of these

activities pronduced nothing,
Many people speak of the frustration of government as due to \/
.\ politics, inefficiency, laziness and insincerity. My own greatest
| frustration in Washington had no connection with thése but was
entirely dues to my lack of support from civilians. I felt sincerely
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that we were trying to do the job in a manner which would be

of great benefit to the civilian economy. If we could accomplisﬁ
our objectives we would save billions of dollars and handle contacts
- with industry in a most logical manner thus saving heavy taxes and
annoyance, But we couldn’t get five men to help. It was incompre-
hensible.

One case comes to mind as particularly annoying. A well
qualified man was willing to come -- he felt it his duty and was
intrigued by the possibilities of the job. A week later he phoned
me he couldn't come because the President of his company after dis-
cugsing the matter with the directors told him that if he took the
government assignment he should resign at once. To take the position
would, in that gentlemen's opinion, be the greatest disservice to
their stockholders that he Eould imagine.

W‘ﬁatdrally 1 éould never of fer an appointment without first
clearing it with Forrestal. He told me fo clear with Don Dawson,
the President's advisor on appointments. As it turned out I would
phone Dawson nearly every day about 4:00 to 5:00 P, M., It got to
- be a’ jJoke and we called it our "teatime call." He knew well that
I was a Republican and that in all probability I would recommend
an industrialist who also was a Republican. In spite of this,
however, he told me that he would endorse any individual whomi
might recommend. He just wanted to be certain that the man hadn't

"just made a speech against Truman within the past week.” I learned

later that Semator Howard McGrath, who was Democratic National Chair-
man, concurred in Dawson's attitude,

I never met either Dawson or McGrath until late in my
tour, 1In spite of our widely differing government philosophies
they gave me complete freedom in making appointments.
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It vwas apparent that I wouldn't get the men I wanted this way

80 I studied the problem and developed a new approach., If we could
Tirst get the Board of Directors of a company to declare that service
with the government was bemeficial to the company, and then get the
president of the company to work with us to make available the ser-
vices of a top notch young man for two years, the man to come just

at the time his promotion to an important administrative post was
announced, and if we could get only one man from an industry, we

night 8o the trick,

I wrote this up with care and tried it out in several places,

It seemed to "click®., Several company presidents told me they would

go along if I put the plan into operation. General Eisenhower,

then President of Columbia, gave several speeches on the plan,
calling it the "Carpenter Pian." We were ready to put the plan into’
operation at about the time I left Washington. No successor was
appointed for about six months and then Hubert Howard didn't seenm
interested in the plan so it was never activated,

More recently I've had some correspondence with President
Eisenhower on it and Dr. Fleming, director of Office of Defense
Mobilization has taken it up, He called for Carter Wellford to
work up a plan which emhodied much of the sarlier one. It is at
present awajting legislation,

In spite of alwmost universal disappointments we did secure

the services of a few men, Ernest Hawkins:® had been Director

P

ny

his services as a consultant and later when I could not get any-
one to take the stockpile job I contacted Ernest. He was then in
poor health, resting on a beach in Florida. I hated to urge him

but the matter was urgent, In spite of his doctor's orders he
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came to Washington and took charpe. I had promised him L would

keep right on trying to get a replacement for him and that he could
leave at any time he desired, He stayed on for many months and did
a fine Job. . '

Paul Litchfield, President of Goodyear, put me in touch with
Rarry Blythe who ceme to Washington to work on the industrial
mobilization plans. He had been vice president of Goodyear Aviation
and had held some very important positions in industry. I wanted to
be certain he was happy on his.aasignment so after he had been on
- the job for about two weeks I asked.hin 1fbhe was getting good
cooperation. He said he had pever had better. I asked him if he

wished more authority, He saild he already bad so much authority
| and the problems were so great that he was scared. That's quite
contrary to the general conéept of a government job but I wasn't
a bit surprised at his answers,

“‘there are too many men who go to Washington on an assignment
and upon returning home they serve their ego by telling how bad
things are in washington. The publlic belleves it and service for
the government is considered an unpleasant assignment, A great
misunderstanding exists between government employees and civilians,
I don't know any individuals in the country who work harder, more
;ntelligently, and with greater sincerity than the top Washington
" officials. The presgure is extreme and exhausting, BRBut the public

" think they have a soft political berth, Many government employces

Think Industrialists dfaw fat salaries, play goll most every day,
have short hours of:work, think only of their own personal profits
and disregard the public welfare. They think the only time they
come to Washington is when their own profits are being hurt and
then if they are asked to help they retfuse saying they don't want

any part of the "dirty buginess" of politics and government. On
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the other hand many industrialists think government employees are
lazy, intellectually dishoneat, empire builders who think only of
building up their jobs regardless of the cost.

0f course both sides are wrong,l bope some method can be found
to bring about a better understanding and a higher level of respect
for both sides. One creates the wealth of the country, the other
administers the government, We must have both,

On Saturday nooﬁ, Under Secretary of the Navy John Kenney
dropped into my of fice seething,mad. He had in his hand a magazine
article written by General "Touy" Spaatz of the Air Force. I pre.
sume 1t brought up the old fight and criticized naval air. At any
’ rate Kenney was hot and said he would write an article and tell the
public the truth,

On our way down the corrider to lunch he noticed I hadn't said
anyghéng. "Don't you think I should write such an article"”, he asked.
I replied that if I were he I would write an article of one paragraph
which would win complete puhiic support for the navy, He, of course,
snorted and asked what it would say.

-"Just this,” I replied, "The Navy has read General Spaatz'
article. The Mavy supports unification.”

He didn't write any article.

¥hen the appropriation for the Air Force for "fiscal 1949" was
passed by Congress at a figure far higher than before due to the

recommendations of the Finletter Committee, Congress was afraid the

increased appropriations would permit some contractors to make
"axcessive” profits, It 1s said that Secretary Symington told the
committee he would have all contracts renegotiated. Renegotiation
was incorporated in the Air Force appropriation and a situation

existed where an item purchased for the Air Force was subject to
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" renegotiation, if purchased for the Navy it cgﬁe1ghder the "Vincent

Thamqer
Frammel Act” which 1imited the manufacturers profits and if it were

purchased for the Army there were no restrictions. It was, of course,
an illogical gituation and Symington was very vocal about it, advocating
renegotiatioh for all three services.

| I felt renegotiation to be wrong in peacetime as it was contrary
to the principles of free enterprise, it removed incentive for
efficient performance, limited competition and distorted costs.

Forrestal consulted with me frequently as I presume he did

with Symington, At War Council neefing one day he announced that
the Military Establishment policy on renegotiation would be wiitten
by the Munitions Board. I had won his approval, but I knew it was
a long hard row because everyone in government geemed to feel
industrial profits were wrong and renegotiation had saved large
sums and been highly beneficial, .

- We decided time was too short to make a thorough study of the
problem before the fiscal 1950 appropriations were passcd 80 we
decided to propose interim legislation for 1950 and formulate a
longer range policy for 1951 and thereafter., For this purpose a
conuittee of military and civilians was formed and they commenced
their deliberations. . -

For 1950 they recommended that renegotiation should be limited
to :those items of pecullarly military character on which competitive
bids could not be secured, This was passed by the Munitions Board

after congiderable digcussion-but-when-it-reached-the-bureau-ef-the—

budget 1t was badly "blue pencilled®, The bureau was completely

out of sympathy with our ideas, so I asked for a hearing,.

Director Pace of the Budget referred the matter to his assistant,
wirhn whe m

Lawton who called in a dozen or so of his aggociates =TT Assistant

by
Secretary of the Navy, Jack Koehler and,discussed the problen with

3 30— N L QU |
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We showed them how a contractor coufxmbigﬁﬁ?gﬁno for an itenm,
',\ have it renegotiated down to $10.00 and the records would show a
saving of $60.00 when the item should cost no more than $10.00 -
but due to the lack of incentive the costs justified the $15.00 and
the government actually lost $5.00 rather than saving $60.00, We
showed them that in an item like housing where they could get only
one biddeé, renegotiation removed most of his incentive, he was per-
mitted to make only a small profit, he had no incentive to put his
best man on the job and the cost to the government woﬁnd up at
$10,000 per unit where it might have dropped to $8,000 if the govern-
nent permitted contractors to keep their profits and competition
resulted,

They were convinced and Lawton told me they had learned more of
renegatiation in our discussion than they had ever known, They
.\ - supported the legislation which was passed with the provision that

} there-would be no renégotiation on competitive procurement, That
appropriation bill is now freguently referred to as the one which
began to make some sense in renegotiatibn. But that was the last
because after I left Washington the movement fell apart, there was
no real interest in furthering it and renegotiation came back
"across the board,” I feel it's a great mistake, and hope some
day it will be corrected before it is too firmly established.

Forrestal occasionaily t0old me he was going to retire as

Secretary of Defense and on a few occasions he agked me what I

- : thought of Louis Johnson as his successor. I told him I didn't
know Johnson but I did recall the way he acted as Assistant
Secretary of War when he had virtually waged a battle to undermine
'\ his superior, I didn't 1ike such actions regardiess of the circum-
stances, If Johnson were wrong it ﬁas inexcusable and even if he

were right his public criticism of his superior was unpardonable.
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So I didn't like Johnson as a su:cessor to Forrestal, Of course,
I didn't want to see Forrestal withdraw under any circumstances.

One noon Forrestal aaked me to jnin him for lunch -~ just the
two of us -~ and he told me he was going to announce in a few days
that he would resign and Truman would appoint Johnson. He said he
wanted me to continue as Chairman of the Munitions Board, Johnson
wanted me to continue and Truman did also. I said I didn't care to.
After considerable discussion, however, I promised Forrestal that
before I gave a final answer I would talk to Johnson.

Since I have never refuscd a definite and reasonable request ‘Q
by a responsible gavermment official, and furthermore I had promised
Truman I would stay for six months, I decided I wouldn’t say "no"
to Johnson but would put up a set of conditions he couldn't passibly
uccept; So I told him I was opposed to the principles nf the Truman
administration and would speak out against them on any reason:ble
occasion, I said I would not permit the.aphointuent of any politicans
on any Muntions Board staff jobs, I saic we would refuse any assistance
to any azency for political purposes, that I wanted to appoint several
strong industrialiste who were probably Republicans. I don't recall
any cher conditions but I made it as tough as I could, fully expectiny
that he would be very happy to look for someone else to take ny job.

He didn't. Instead he said he would back me up in every one of my
ideas. I was amazed, lle had taken the "wind out of my sails" and
I agrecd to stay bLut left hig office with the very definite feeling

that words were cheap. I falt cextain that he would go-back-enhie——

assurances and as soon as he did X would resign immediately. To my
surprise he never did, I never had as complete backing from a
superior as I had from Louls Johngson even though some of my proposed

actions were completely at odds with the aduinistration policies.
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The day before Forrestal retired I had a matter that I had

to clear with the Secretary of lefense. I hated to bother Forrestal
because I knew how tired and distraught he was, and that he would
.retire the nﬁxt day. The matter needed prompt attention, however,
and I knew Johnson wouldn't become familiar with it for a week or
s0, 80 I told Kate Foley I had to see "the boss" promptly.

'I put my question to Forrestal, His mind wandered, I brought
him back to it, he wandered again gsking my opinion of several of
his past actions. Repeatedly I brought him back to the question btut
no answer. Finally i said "Jim, why don't we do it this way,"

"Al11l right, Don" he said and I had mykanswer. But what a tragedy.

——-———————‘"—-.—‘_-’
This was the man who a year before had been keen, quick and decisive,

—

-——"/-— > '’
who had given me twelve answers in as many :minutes or less, KNow ir

i —

.'twenty minutes he couldn't answer one question., His loyalty, his
doVotion,to.duty, his strife with several jéalous agencies, his

- apprehensions and his peréecution by too many of his associates
had resulted in the undermining of the health of ome of America's
finest public servants,

The next day Johnson was sworn into office with great fanfare.
Forrestal appeared dazed, After the ceremony he wandered back ta his
office, realized it was no longer his so he went to the Mall entrance
for his car. It was not there, It happened that my driver was

there with my car and he took Forrestal home where Ferd Fherstadt

ﬂ.':s“.d‘d hjn to g0 at once to F:O”ida and anmnged for ])n h’j]]jamwm
Menninger to attend him, )

A few days later lForregtal retumrmed to Washington to enter the
Bethesda Hospital., Soon afterward he jumped from a window to his
death and I understand the Navy immediately urged Mrs, lorrestal

to sign a paper absolving the Navy of any responsibility.
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He was gone, the Navy, in my opinion, had been largely

" ’ -respongible for undermining his health and after he was sick the
ﬂa\}y was extremely lax in his treatment.
The Hoover Commission had been set up by the President and
Sy Congress to investigate the executive branch of the government
to eliminate duplications, to increase efficiency, and reduce
expenditures. A "task force" of this commission headed by
Perdinand Eberstadt was to cﬁncentrate its attention on the
Military Establishment. .
In my position as Chairman of the Military Liaison Committee
I was called to appear before the task force to describe the aper-
ations of the Committee and answer questions,
‘ As Chairman of the Munitions Board I was asked to appear
‘. before them a.gain and had frequent cont‘eiences with Ferd Eberstadt.
I understand that the task force was very well satisfied with the
steﬁa 1 had taken and the method of operation.
Frank Leslie was designated by Forrestal to handle the contacts
- of the Military Establishment with the Hoover Commission. I became
quite well acquainted with him and have seen him on several occasions
since, In fact, when Eisenhower became President, Leslie without
my knowledge recommended me for a government assignment,
One morning at War Council meeting, Secretary Johnson said
ﬁe.was going to recommend to the President that I be appointed
" chairman of the National Security Resources Board to take the post
IeT¥ vacant by Arthur HIII's resignation. He asked the opinion
of the members -- Service Secretaries, Military Chiefs and Board
.\ Chairmen. They all expressed their approval. I had completely

lost my voice having strained it speaking at an annual convention

of very gay mining engineers and couldn't say anything.

M
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Inmediately after the meeting I sent Johnson a note stating
.»\ "I sincerely and honestly do nnt wish to he drafted.” He didn't
a- nake the recommendation and asked me why I felt that way,
| I later told hinm that I was eager to return to industry and
although the proposed position had high prestige still it would not
work because reporting directly to the President I couldn't be as
nutspoken against his policies as 1 could when reporting to a
Secretary. Johnson agreed and the matter was dropped,
John Steelman was appointed and nothing was accomplished,
in fact many of the gnod men of the National Securlty Resources
- Board resigned., Some time later Symington was appointed and used
it to gain much personal publicity.
The "Marshall Plan%, later to be called European Recovery
Program (ERP) and later Economic Cooperation Adninistration (ECA)
‘\. “called for financial assistance in the rehabilitatign af forelign
countiries. The question then arose as taq what assiétance.of a
military nature might be advisable, particularly since the Soviets
had demonstrated hostility. The question was being considered as
to how much aid we shonuld give, in what form, and for how long.
.The Munitions Board sent a representative to Europe to sit
in on discussions of these problems. Before going I gave him

instructions in very general terms. I drew him the following chart.,

| - = ]
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.\ The solid line represented the growth of the military effort

of the country, increasing over a period of say six years to the

point where the country's economy would carry it on a more or less
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permanent basis, The dotted 1line would represent the military effort

.\‘ of the country bolstered by United States aid. It would reach the
‘same maximum, but in two years rather than six. Thus we might
contribute an increasing amount for two years, then a decreasing
amount for four years reaching zero at that time, The figures
would depend upon the conditions in each country, That was the
general policy which our representative was to take to the meetings,
I never heard the results because I left Washington before the pro-
gram was orystallized,

Several pears later I was.asked if I would accept appointment
as head of a sort of Munitions Hoard of Europe to handle the logistics
of the military build up of the North Atlantic Treaty Organizatior,
It was not a very definite requesi and I indicated that I was not

.\. very interested, I felt that such an assignment would be extremely
diffisult due to language problems and inter-country jealousies.
Furfhermore I felt 1 had done "my bit".

On several occasions I was invited to attend the meetings of
the Buginess Advisdry Council of the Uepartment of Cbmmerce. On one
of these Louise went with me to ilot Springs for a weekend meeting.

1 discussed with the Cnmmittee and with individual members
our thoughts on the néed of men from industry, our policies on
renegotiation and on education for sconomy, They were very inter.
;gsted and helpful, On the matter of manpower they appointed a

committee to work with me but without much tangible result.

When Johnson first went in as Secretary of Defense the Navy
put on a briefing for hin én the subject of "war at three o'clock
. in the morning."” Johnson asked me to attend the briefing with
him, The room was full of naval officers of all ranks, the

meeting was opened by Assistant Secretary Loehler and the statements
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were made in meticulous fashion by naval of ficers mostly of
commander or captain rank, each speaking on a separate subject
for about five minutes. Subjects such as manpower, shipyard
capacity, steel, power equipment, eti., were handled. It was
done in an excellent fashion and was most impressive,

After the first two or three presentations had been made
Johnson asked me in a whisper what I thought of it, I told him
I thought it unrealistic. Later he asked me again and I told him
there was not that much manpower and steel available if the other
two services were to be activated simultaneously. So Johnson
spoke up saying "Mr. Secretary, you are wasting your time and
ny time as your presentatlon is unrealistic because there are
three services to be served and there won't be enough manpower
‘and supplies available to satisfy your stated requirements,
nevertheless you may proceed if yom wish. Assistant Secretary
Koehler said he would prefer to stop, "Very well," said Johnson,
®"I'd be glad to listen to it again but please clear it with the
Chairman of the Munitions PBoard before you give it.® Never had
the Munitions Board received such backing. After that our progranms
were more carefully observed by all services, particularly the Navy.
It was proposed that we endeavor to standardize on all ™"non-
uniform" clothing and “igsue", It was felt that if all items
were placed on display and if a committes of high ranking officers

from sach service was asked to make their recommendations we could

make congiderable progreés. The program was advanced by Gordon Gray.
lats, jackets, breesches, shoes, bhliankets, cots and all manner

of items were laid out in a nearbdby quartermaster Depot. Nq clothing

items which represented the unfform of the sefviceswere included

but only the clothing used on "fatigue duty." It was amazing to
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see how many different types of work caps were being used, and

.'* different kinds of shoes and it seemed there was a great excess of
a- every item. |
The Committee reviewed and recommended a substantial reduction
in the uuubei of items and then it was up to the Munitions Board to
approve. I was pleased with the progress made but was not satisfied
in two respects. First the Marine Corps had taken what seemed to me
& very selfish and unreasonable attitude in refusing to standardize
many of their itemg., Second, there were no cost estimates to indicate

whether the Committee proposed to standardize on the least expensive

or the most expcnsive’ltou or some intermediary. Without this inform-
ation we couldn't possibly tell wheth&r'the recommendations would
'—represenf economies or not. There was great protest that such costs
| | 'couidrnot be ascertained. I recall stating that in my opinior
.‘ one experienced man from a company such as Sears Rosbuck coul:’ do -
the job in a week. We later got the 1nforﬁation and the matter was
concluded with but partial benefits. I had the definite feeling
here that the assistance of a competent §1vilian in one of the
Boar@ Jobs would be a great assistance and that with his help we
could adopt similar procedures on many different classes of supplies.
But we couldn't get the man and the job fell far short of our desires.
In preparation for the fiscal 1950 budgets the Joint Chiefs of
Staff appointed a committee of three high ranking officers, one
- representing each service, to work up a combined military budget.
¥hen they were ready to report Forrestal asked me to attend the
report mecting with him,

.\ : The report was given as to what action could be taken with a
T budget limitation of $14 billion, but that a realistic appraisal
would indicate a budget of over $17 billion, It was apparent that
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a great deal of work had gone into this calculation, It also
.\, geemed to me that the Pregident must have set a top limit of 514

.- billion on the budget.

Walking back to our off;cea, Forrestal said it was a pity the
military officers weren’t thinking constantly of economy rather
than just at budget time. He asked me if I couldn't devise some
plan tp provide for more thoughts of economy. I told him that
although he was asking not only for a program but for a "way of
life™ I would think it over and report to him in two weeks.

I did a lot of thinking on the subject. It seemed obvious

that the Military couldn't be driven into econbmy, they should be
trained to want it. They sﬁould want it not for any general reason
but for reasons of national security, for that was their primary
' intersst, They should have all poasible incentives to achieve
.'S‘ ‘economy. Too frequently a man receives criticism rather than
 credit for economizing, Mention of steps toward economy should
be of great importance on the individual efficiency record of each
officer, They should in short be taughf what is economy, why is it
important to national security, how can it be attained and how can
we c;eate an atmosphere in which it will thrive. This teaching
should be given in the formal schools such as ¥est Point, Annapolis
and Leavenworth and also in all training programs, and in addition
training similar to 1ndustry'albob Instruction Training’programa
- should be instituted. I thought a committee of four should be

88t up, opne to be 2 member—of—the—Nunitions—DBoard who would o5&
chairman, and one from each service, This committee should "spark
.\ . plug® the training nrogram.
' I presented these thoughts to Forrestal at a dinner he arranged
at which Al Guenther, Bill Draper, Ferd Eberstadt, and Bill McNeil
were present. They approved in principle if I could sell it to the

S A e
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three services. I did, but with the understanding that the Muntions
Board would get itm man first and then he would work with the ser-
vices in appointing their candidates.

This was logical and I drew up a directive for Forrestal's
signature. He signed and I started to find my man, .It seemed to
me.to be a chance in a lifetime to start something really fundamental
which over the years would save the country billions of dollars.

It also would be a job which some industrial engineer would be de-
lighted to accept. The prestige of such a pagition would be out-
standing, But no, it didn't work that way., Man after man turned
it down. There wasn't one who didn't say it was an excellent plan,
in fact many said it was the best they had ever heard of, but they
couldn’t take the post.

Weeks went by with no acceptance, Finally with great reluctance

‘"I wrote another directive withdrawing the program and asked Johnson

to aign it, He was amazed but signed it. Lack of civilian under-
standing and cooperation really hurt that time. Severﬁl manths

after I left Washington the head of a well-known management enginecring
firm phoned me asking if I would recoﬁmend his company to the Air
Forcé to help on some cost reduction activities. He went into

great fength to tell me how important it was, I asked him why he

felt it was so important now and when I had urged him to help in

a much bigper manner previaously he had flatly refused. Ho got the
point and said he guessed I was right.

In addition to my duties as Chairman of the Munitions Board,

g

Forrestal, and later Johnson, called upon me to act as their deputy
to carry out several specific activities. One of these came as a
directive from Forrestal requesting me to submit to him a 1list of

public works projects falling within the wnilitary budget. They

e
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were to be arranged in order of their importance t{o National §
.\ Defense regardless of the service advocating them, I told Fnrrestal

~- this was certainly going to win the popularity contest for me for
~ there are few mattera which the services fight for more aggressively
than their schools, warehouses, harbors, plers and airports.

, There were about $8 billion of projects under consideration,
Forrestal had asked for a list totaling about $600 million, ¥e
could have asked the Munitioms Board staff to review and recommend
them but 1 knew if we did we would have a severc battle bhoth in the

initial study and later in the bureau nf the budget and in the

Congressional committees because no service would be satisfied and
eagh would do all it could to include more of 1ts projects. So I
decided égainst that approach and thought I would try ome which
had worked well in the Military Liaison Committee,

Each military chief was asked to designate a high rankivg
of ficer to act as my advisor. Lt. General Aurand was desigr ‘ted
by the Army, Lt. General "Pinky" Crﬁig by the Air Force, and Rcar

Adnirel Feeland by the Navy. I suggested that rather than asking

wach officer tn represent his service we should assign a type of
project for each to sponsor for all three services. Thus Aurand
would list all housing projects for all three services, Keeland

was to List all Zone of Interior operational projects and General
Craig all sverseas projects,

d Chief, RDD, WHS
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would be submitted by the Research and Development Board. We dew

cided to allocate approximately equal amounts to all of the-categeries—

with the provision that each 1ist would include a L0% excegss so that

we could determine whether some of the axcess of one list might

g

be more impnartant than the bottom projoct on some other list.
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A Colonel was designated to assist in the arrangements and
.-.\_ particularly to report to me in the event there was any "back
-~ scratching®™ where one member made a deal with another, It was
underatood that each of the three officers could conduct hearings
1quny way hé wished and could prepare his list any way he wanted,
He codid, if he wanted, 1ist all his own service projects at the
\ top of the 1list, but no 1lists would be approved until all three
. of ficers reported jointly to me and each would have the opportunity

to comment on each other's 1ist, So if there were to be any chiseling
there would be ample disclozure of it.

"It started off and was regarded as an interesting experiment.
Each of ficer held many meetings and worked hard on his lists,
Several times I was called in for consultation -- many times it

was a case of the Marines fighting for one of their projects and

p

refusing tn accept the determination of the officer handling the
listing, I got very fed up with the Marines,

At nne time the Colonel tippod‘me pff that one of the officers

% was being criticized by his superiors for not pushing harder for
ggu; thei? particular projectenﬁqf invited the military chief of that
i’;ig E service for lunch and toldjhow well his reprasentative was per-

5 %f ™ forning ~- that did 1t, we never had any more tronble of that kind.
%%% g?, ¥hen the liasts were subnitted there was complete agreement on
%g% 98%, of the items. The last 2% they asked me to rule on -- they

’

pertained to housing in Adak in the Aleutians versus housing at

some other locations. I -thought of a sergeant and his family
living a winter in a beaten up Quonset hut nn the rocky and wind

swept shores of Adak and ruled to provide him with a suitable house.

®

The mést serious question of the Research and Development

projects was the extent of the radar screen, It was a matter for
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Joint Chiefs of Staff decision s0 I asked them to advise the

extent of the installation they considered necessary. Tt was a

o
difficult determination as a complete installation would have been

very expensive,
Finally the report was prepared, the projects listed in order

of importance to the National security as it appeared to us., When

I presented it to Forrestal I could see him sigh in a resigned sort

of way thinking this would invite another inter-service fight so

I suggested he look at the last page, On that page all the service

secretaries had indicated their approval of the lists.
was amazed -~ he couldntt believe it -- to have a comhined report

Forrestal

submitted to him which had tri-service approval.

When the report went to the bureav of the budget they assign-d

some of their investigators. to lonk into it in detail, They blue

* pencilled many 1tens,_ questioned others, critized the estimated
amounts on others and in general were prepared to upset the entire

‘ program. The military nfficers were very annoyed becauss they had

tried so hard to be intelligent and fair in their investigation.

So I asked for a hearing with the budget, I expected tn attend with

nclassified

g only.thc Colonel with me and was amazed to find twenty or thirty

§§§ ™~ Qfenerals and Adnirals in the room when I arrived. I explained to
ggg é the budget officials how the report had been prepared. I pointed
§§§§ o@t that thie was the first tri-service report ever gubmitted. We
T€X3  cpuldn't vouch for the exactness of all the estimates hut thought

them reasonabdbly accurate and if the mmﬂm;&nmﬂnmﬂm._*mm

check some of them we had no objections, but if they wanted to dig

deeply into the overall determinations they were welcome to the
.“ entire job -- we would wash our hande of 1t. They didn't., The

military officers were surprised and pleased with this outcome

and the report of the "Carpenter Board" as it was called went to
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Congress. I left before it was acted upon and don't know how it’
fared.

Another unusual task appeared suddenly when Forrestal secretly

- flew to Europe leaving a group of civilians whom he had invited

SEF 17 2m

for an "orientation" in the Military Establishment, It was a very
high ranking group of top industrialists, pubiishers, mayors and
labor leaders, There they were, their programs had all been well
outlined by General Lutés but Forrestal, who was to greet them and
act as the host, was gone, 50 the job seemed to come my way and I
had a few busy days in Hhshingfon but also in rensacola where they
visited the Naval operations, The main problem was to be certain
the fight between the Air lorce and the Navy on air operations -
didn't become active in the presence of this‘gfoup for each scrvice
was burning to tell its story to any audience.

The Bureau of Mimes of the bepartment of lnterior bad done
work ;n the extraction of oil from o0il shale near Rille, Colorado.
The Union 0il Cumpany was interestad in producing oil in this
manner but they figured the costs would be too high to sell the
product at current price sé they asked if the Milltary Establishment
would pay a premiua'for some of its 0il so the process could be
operated. If it were important to National Defense it might have
been a worthwhile move, bhut we could not see that it waq,ggg"iﬁe

0il supplies from Texas, Oklahoma, and from California, with the

" new fielda opening in Canéda and promising exploration in Montana

»

was a great deal of talk adout it but it was our feeling that if

it were desirable to demonstrate the feasibility of producing oil

from shale it should be done by some other ageacy, not nurs,
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Kap Krug, Secretary of Interior, suggested that a three man
\\
. Alaska Development Commlgsion he formed to study the commercial -

possibilities of Alaska, to recommend to Congress such legislation

as might be holpful and to try to persuade companies to operate

plants there. He suggested one member from the Department of

Commerce, one from the Military Fstablishment, and one who would

be chairman from the Department of Interior. LForrestal asked me

I thought well of the idea and af ter some
checking I recommended Horace McCurdy, President of the Puget

Sound Bridge and.Dredging Company of Seattle.
Krug as our member.

to handle the matter.

I gave his name to
A few weeks later Krug told me the Governor
of Alaska didn't want anyone from Seattle as there was some feeling

that Seattle looked upon Alaska as its province. I gained the

impression that the Governor of Alaska was ultra "New Dealish",

9

that he knew McCurdy was a two-fisted business man who would"call
a spade a spade® and that was the reason he didn't want him, so I

told Krug that we had no other candidate. If they really meant

% businéu they would take McCurdy, if they didn't mean business we
;ggﬁcﬁ didn’t want to be a party to it, The matter was dropped.
%ﬁ% ~ Steve Early was appointed Deputy Secretary of Defense under
%g% %‘ Johnson, Naturally I had heard of him for years as an advisor to
%’.g%a Roosevelt. More recently he had been in industry frequently con-
fe<d tacting government officials, Johnson told he that although
) organizationally I should report to Early still in practice he
hoped I would continue to report direct to him, It seemed a bit
confused and I foresaw some diffficulties, but they never arose.
.\ I enjoyed working with Steve and recognized his wisdom and insight

in handling episodes which involved the complications that existea

in the huge government organization,
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Jack Ohly was also very familiar with the ramifications of ‘:
.’\ governmental procedure, Many matters which arose called for "coordinatio:
= wit_h many other departments. A matter requiring our decision would,
~of -course, require coordination and perhaps endorsvment by the three
military services but also it might have to be coordinated with
European Recovery Program, State Department, Department of Interior
and Treasury or other agencies such as the National Security Resources
Board or perhaps the National Security Council., Perhaps the Petroleum
Council might be involved or the Bureau of Hil;ea and other agencies
would come to mind until action would seem impossible,
In this maze of complication I would frequently submit a proposed
program to Jack Ohly, one of Forrestal's three special assistants.
The others were Bill McNeil, who handled fiscal matters, and Marx
_ Leva, who was legal advisor. Jack would study the proposed action
.‘ 'for a day or so and then tell me the plan looked fine to him byt

,"D,on'.'fyou oversimplify® he would say, and I would answer "Jack,

that is what this town needs," "I éuess you're right", he would

®
g%m _ reply.
:g’z‘é ® ‘One time there was a question about the government selling
§§§ o some war surplus freighters, It had been underatood that they
§§§ 57, could bg purchased by a foreign government if the rehabilitation
;‘%”%g § were handled in Un:lted States shipyards. This was done to keep
those companies alive for otherwise they would have no shipbuilding
- business due to the postwar excess of ships., This time a company
in ¢
hauled in a foreign shipyard because the conditions at that location
.\_ were desperate., The Maritime Commission opposed the action, the

Navy opposed it, the Department of Labor opposed it, the Army favored
it because it was responsible for economic affairs in that country.

Steve Early at one of his staff meetings brought up the matter and

. - .- . - e .
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the Munitions Board lap as did most complicated problems that cut
' across several departments,
‘IF\ I conducted hearings to"deternine the issues” (a good Whahington
- practice), Then I conferred with Aduinistrative Aide Soura-who was
.accretary of the Security Council. It was to be discussed with the
Pgbsident and X was to attend the Security Council meeting to present
1t, | |
| Then Steve Early came to my office to ask me if I had noticed
| that certain members of this forﬁign firm were also representing
certain interests in the United States and had connections in
pretty high places in Washington. Light dawned; it was a pretty
slick scheme. We refused the request promptly. There have been
several cases of questionable practices in this field that have
" since been disclosed. I have Steve Early to thank fhat I didn't

"become involved.

¢

- Nany industrialists, coming to Washington, feel that their
notives are being suapected and that their recommendations receive

3 1ittle consideration. They don't Like the manner im which they
;§§§ E‘é are x?alud on .fm- one agency to another, no one being interested
gg § ~ in really studying and acting upon the recommendation. Many such
ggg é industrialists are men of broad experience and responsibility who
5§§§-, resent being treated lightly by government personnel who they con-
5‘?5’%;‘% sider far junior in attainments, They particularly resent it be-
. cauoevtheir personal and business incomes and profits are being
taxed to support this cumbersome and unfriendly bureaucracy.
This situation is i&ut wegrettable + It seems to me that it
stemg from two major causes, first because experienced civilians .
“ are not willing to contribute their services so the goverhment

must hire whom it can, and second because a young man making a

career in government is subject to so many requests which he
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. considers selfish and contrary tn the public interest., A politicélan
m will ask special treatment in his community which will help his
local standing but may be a waste of government funds, A labor
leader may threaten ropﬁisals‘unleas the government takes some
- apparently unsound action, A manufacturer may insist on special
allocation of critical materials just to enhance his own pijofits.
Thus government officials have learned to be "on Atheir guard” and
when a2 civilian comes to disbuas a matter with them, they often .
wonder what "axe he is grinding.* This becomes a habit, and fre-
quently prejudices them against a perfectly sound program and is
one of the reasons why industrialists feel they get the ®brush off"
in Washington. ,
The military officers have very high standards of ethics and
are a fine lot of men. I never realized how much time they spend
‘\ "15 schooling, One of the Lieutenant Generalsof the Army told me
| he had spent more thaﬁ half of his 1life in attending schools. They
have the military acadeny; then the War College, the Industrial
Cellege, the Genelz;l Officers College, and many more, They ars
exceptlonall} well trained for their primary migsion. They are,
hovqelior, frequently criticized for their lack of training and
experience in other fields. I feel they over eatimate their

3.6

abilities in other lines of activities but all too frequently
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§ they must step in to very important asa:lgnqe_nta because industrial
N pioplo won't do it and ‘aoneone must. ‘A Kaéor General took charge
of the $12.5 billion morth of government plants not because he wms
so well qualified but because we couldn't get anyone else. He did
a perfectly sound, safe Job,' but not an imaginative one,
.‘ In total I found the senior of ficers of the services to be

splendid gen, I hope I can maintain contact with them,




A week or two before I left Washington the Naval officers
'\ invited ms to attend a farewgll dinner for John Kenney who was
_’ : retiring ae Under Secretary of the Navy. This was strictly a
‘“.flnilitary affair and I was about the only cicilian breaent. 1 sat
way down at the end of the table with Admirals Radford, John lale
Price and Mort Ring. One of then; saying that I was to leave
‘Washington in a few weeks, asked me to tell them frankly what
'I'thought_of the Navy, ‘I tried to avoid the question, but they
. ingisted s0 I told them. "™You folks think morse of the Navy than
you do of the United States,” I said., I told them that if they
continued to defy the spirit of unification which was the law of
the land and supported by the American ‘People, they would sink

» the Navy.
The battle was on and we argued furiously for hours. When
.\ it subdsided we looked up and the dinner was over, practically

everybdne had departed. -
They are fine men, the Navy did'g magnificent war job, Since

I left Washington many of those who battled unification in the Navy

have been removed from of fice or have mended their ways. Although

WHS
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ther§ is still plenty of "disunilication® it 1s understandable.

Institutions with over a century of traditioas and with the(high
, Qervice morale and rivalry of the Army and N avy naturally find

difficulty in immediats unification. If Forrestal had insisted

. on it at once there would have bean many resignations of valuable
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officerg. It has taken time but good progress is being made.
Drew Pearson is given credit for far more influence than he

.\ deserves. Still his broadcasts are an item of importance in
Waghington., What he says Sunday evening is almost zlways dis-

cussed at lunch Monday. He criticized me on four different

occasions.
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hhen I was first appointed Ly Forrestal to be his deputy on
‘\ atomic energy,l’earson cpncoctod a story that Forrestal had loaneq
P money to Reamington Arma, of which I was Vice President. Remington
. then made ammunition fo'r;vaol:lvia for the Chaco war. He inferred
thét vFo::rest'al and I weré iiow getting together on some new kind of
questionable propnaltion. .
| ~Later Pearson warned the 'Sén:ate 1o look well inte my gquestione
. able record before confirming my '&;ppointmnt as Chalreman of the
‘Munitions Board, When I refused a job to an applicant forv a
position of handling Muntions Board publicity because he was un-
friendly to industry, Pearson built up a far-fetched story out of
it. On each occasion' ny associates immediately told me "You've
Joined the club® meaning the club of those blasted by Pearson.

It interested me that although Pearson blasted me four times, on

o

each occasion none of my associates remembered that he had ever

doné it before, I conéluded from this that what Pearson says is

intently listened to but is forgotton in a very few gaya,. .
'After each Pearson blast I would get mail from friends and

'u

% . from psople whom I had never met, It was very significant that I
§§§ § neve'r received one adverse lettor, Most of them said they had heard
g%:% ~ the Pearson broadcast and hopad I would pay no attention to anyone
gég"ag go unreliable. So I concluded that a blast by Pearson was un-

iggé ‘dimportant and not unpleasant, '

e

When Pearson adviged the Senate not to confirm my approintment,

Judy asked me what X thought about it. I told hor that would he

fine for then we could go home, Later Judy brought nme an envelope
addressed to the President, White House, Washington, D.C, The
letter' inside read; "Deax: Prosident Truman, please tell the Senate
to send Daddy home to Southport, Connecticut, I went to your

inauguration, I ate two hot dogs, Love Judy.” It was quite a
letter and the next dav she mailed it.
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A few days later she received a reply "Dear” Judy, Fresident

@~

Truman asked me to thank you for your friemdly letter and sends you

his kindest regards.” She said she was going to frame it.
Later at a dinner for Forrestal I told Truman of it. He was

delighted and asked ne 1f I would send him the letter Judy had
written. I told him I couldn't as it was in his files not mine.
He turnmed to his Assistant, John Steelman, and said, "Daun it all,

John, I've been telling &ou not to open ﬁy mail,
We were being called upnn

As time went on the work iﬁcraased.
We were being

for more services, It was gratifying, but exhausting.
called upon partially, at least, because we were a civilian agency
and could handle problems with a civilian viewpoint. At the game |
tino,’howevor, we couldn't get the kind of civilian help we ﬁanted,
" g0 the pncé for the few civilians occuping important civilian
positions became pretty stiff. My office hours ran from 9 to 6:80,

sometimes 7 or 8, Irequently I would leave at 4:00, take a pldne

ifieq
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to New York, Pitt;butgh, or perhaps Chicago to deliver a speech
to a group, then fly back home to Washington that night. Ahaut
twice a week I would be up at 5:30 A.M. §o go over matters wnich

>
1 had been unable to concentrate on due to interruptions. When
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we finally left Washington I was more tired than I realized,
Word caze that I should be in Secretary Louls Johnson's office

at 11:00 A.M. on 24 June 1945, I suspected something was afont

16 my peiall but—wasntt-sures—When-I-reported.in the Sccoratary's

office I was surprised to find it filled with officers and civilians

whom I had known in my one and a third years in Washington,

e
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Secratary Johnson awarded ne the certificate of appreciatiog
for EXCEPTIONAL CIVILIAN SHRVICE and read a very flattering citaéion.
General Guenther then read a commendatory resolution passed by the
- War Council and signed by all its members and many of its close
aésociatea. A sound recording on a record and a movie were made
3qf-the affair and given to me, Louise and Judy, then age 10, were
with me to share my pleasure in this unexpected recdgnition of my
‘tour in govermment, Judy busied herself getting signatures from
"uanw~of those present. I didn't realize it until ehe showed me
" several sheets of paper filled with autographs of some of the
highest.ranking military and civilian officlals.

The Nunitions Board membere presented me with a printed copy
of a resolution of the boar§ cormenting on my services and the
Hilitary Linison Committee had done the same.

_ Eresident Truman’gent me his picturc inscribed to me and a

very flattering letter. Secretary Joﬁnson did the same as Secretary
Forrestal had doné before he retired. |

At the President's request; Louise; Judy and I called upon
him to receive his personal congratulations and farewell, .

When I first decided to go to Washington I felt that there would
be no pleasure and much fruetration and criticism resulting therefrom.
As it turned out I had but little frustration, very little criticism,
and more praise than I deserved, My apprehensions had been ill-founded,

My tour in Weshington had been a year and a third of accomplishment,

extremely hard work, and with subatantial personal satisfaction.

d
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June 22, 1949

))ear-lir. Carpenter: St

"X have your-letter of April 80, 1949 submite
ting your resignation as Chairman of the Munitions
Board, to be effective not later than June 30, 1949,
As you know, I accept this resignation with the great-

- . est of reluctance and do so only because of the cama-

‘pelling personal considerations of which you advised .

.. me,

S b _ As Chairman of the Munitions Board, and pre-
LT T i viously as the Chairman of the Military Liaison Com- -

ot Y. ' mittee 'to the Atomic Energy Commission, you have done

. . an outstanding job in strengthening the National Mil-
. itary Establishment and in furthering our national
- ~security, Under your direction, a close working re.
" lationship was established between the National Mil..-
~ - itary Establishment and the Atomic Energy Commission,
) and great strides were made in the progress of indus- -
v e e iy Sa-trdial mobilization planning and in the coordination ;
o777 of procurement matters in the Armed Services, - '

You are to be congratulated not only for the
large number of concrete accomplishments for which
_yqu are responsible, but also for your public spirit
and your sense of duty in accepting these posts at
personal sacrifice and in repeatedly, at my request,
extending your services far beyond the date when you

had anticipated returning to private life.

Very sincerely yours,

/8/ Barry S, Truman

G E S TR G f it e . .
"‘..,' m‘mv " Honorable Donald F," Carpenter,
Chairman, : '
Munitions Board,
Pentagon Building,
Washington, D.C,
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It is with regret that I accept your resignation
8 my Deputy for Atomic Energy Matters, as Chairman of
the Military Liaison Committee to the Atomic Energy Com-
mission, and as the representative of the National Mil-
dtary Establishment on the other related agencies which
you merition in your letter, My regret would be much
B . greater if Y did not look forward with such anticipation
" - to working with you as Chairman of the Munitions Board
W xmm:,and if X -did-not share your own .confidence in-the ability
RS of Mr, Webster to carry on this work in an excellent

‘ ., fashion,

I am sure you know how gratetul I am for the work

“you have done and for your willingness to stay on in a
new capacity, There is no need to 1list ths ma jor accom-
plishnents for which you have been responsible not only
“in the field of atomic energy but also in the many other

: """" P 3"’*1” areas in which I have sought your advice, These are mat-
ters of common knowledge, both within and without the :
. National Military Establ{ahment. I think I need say no
‘more than that I am deeply appreciative,

Sincerely yours,

/8/ James Forrestal

‘Room SE T40 R
Pentagon Building

“W:#”{.Wmﬂ”‘w:“‘"' P o e DT A S '*' .";——i'.':.'
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0 - WESTERN UNION

NCU (Columbia University)
NEW YORK, N.Y,
JUNE 24, 1949

,nonomnm DON CARPEFTER
MUNITIONS BOARD PENTAGON BLDG=

| DEAR DON I LEARNED THAT TOMORROW YOU ARE TO TERMINATE
: ..;.\;_,{.,.;YOUR FRESENT TQUR. OF GOVERNEENI SERVICE. T AM QUITE .
..\ " © WELL AWARE THAT IT EAS MEANT MUCH T0 YOU IN TERMS OF
PERSONAL SACRIFICE TO CARRY 0UT THE DUTIES ASSIGNED YOU
' DURING THESE PAST MONTHS IN WASHINGTON. BUT ‘I TRULY HOPE
THAT THR SATISFACTION OF HAVING DONE A GOOD J0B, OF HAVING
: ,;smmn "YOUR COUM‘RY WELL IN A vmy CRITICAL POST 'WILL FAR
; MORE THAN COMPENSATE FOR ANY MATERIAL SACRIFICES, NO
- MATTER HON GREAT 'rmsx MAY BE. .TO THIS I ADD ONLY THAT
YOU WILL ALWAYS HAVE MY ADMIRATION AND RESPECT FOR THE
GREAT TALENTS YOU HAVE DEVOTED T0 A MOST INTRICATE,
DIFFICULT AND IMPORTANT TASK, AND FOR THE LOYALTY AND

DEVOTION THAT HAVE CHARACTERIZED YOUR WORK. WITH AFFECTIONATE
REGARD= . At ‘

..v
]
;

"IKE EISENHOWER-

. . “ " - . . .
‘.ﬁﬁ““ﬁﬁmmﬂuﬁm et ey W R T TR
ot . ot . - - . v .
le . . . .
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‘ by the
MILITARY LIAISON COMMITTEE
to the

ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

WHEREAS, Domald F, Carpenter served as the Chairman of

the Military Liaison Committee from April 6, 1948 to September
21, 19483 and

WHEREAS, during this period the Committee undertook new

a:g much larger responsibilities consequent to a new charter;
a

WHEREAS, new and greatly improved relations were estab-
lished with {he Atomic Energy Commission, its staff and its
operating agencies in the field; and

WHEREAS, in sum total the Military Liaison Committee
. became during this period a far more effective activity of
the National Military Establishment and aided materially in

contributing to an improved program in the atomic energy
‘ ' field; and

., WHEREAS, these successful results were in large neasure,
the direct result of the initiative, wise counsel, and able
leadership of the said Donald F, Carpenter; be i%

RESOLVED by the Members of the Military Liaison Committee
that they express their warm and sincere appreciation of the
outstanding work of the said Donald F, Carpenter in the cause

of mational defense by presenting him with this resolution
signed by all the Members.

ARMY NAVY AIR FORCE
/8/ K. D. Nichols /a/.R. A, Ofstie /¢/ D. M, Schlatter
Ma jor General, USA Rear Admiral, USN Major General, USAF
// J. H, Hinds /8/ W. S, Parsons /s/ R. C. Wilson
- Colonel, F,.A, Rear Admiral, USN Brigadier General,USAF




Pugé determined to be Uncldssified
Zeviewed Chief, RDD, WHS
AW EO 12526, Section 3.5

Date:
SEP 17 201

THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
WASHINGTON

CITATION TO ACCOMPANY THE AWARD OF THE
NATIONAL MILITARY ESTABLISHMENT
CERTIFICATE OP APPRECIATION
TO
DONALD F, CARPENTER

DONALD F., CARPENTER, for exceptionally meritorious
service to the National Hil;tary Establishment from April 8, 1948,
.\" to June 24, 1949. At the request of the Secretary of Defense, Mr,
’ ‘Carpgnter left his civilian occupation to assume the Chairmanship
of the Military Liaison Committee to the Atomic Energy Commission,
In fhis capacity, Mr. Carpenter demonstrated unusual tact and
ability in developing military atomic energy programs and under
his guidance and direction military atomic energy activities were
materially furthered, In September, 1948, Mr. Carpenter was ap-
pointed by the President to serve as Chairman of the Hunitiobs
Board, Faced with uuprecedent;d problems in supply, distribution,

storage and procurement, Mr. Carpenter showed remarkable initiative
',c'

solutions, His service to the government is deserving of the highest
praise,

LOUIS JOHNSON
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RESOLUTION of the WAR COUNCIL 1
NATIONAL MILITARY ESTABLISHMENT

WHEREAS Donald F, Carpenter has served the National Military
Establishment faithfully and brilliantly from 8 April 1948 to
- 80 June 19493 First as Chairman of the Military Liaison Committee

until 21 September 1948 and later as Chairman of the Munitions
Board until 30 June 1949; and

WHEREAS in his capacity as the first civilian Chairman of the

. Military Liaison Committee he organized an effective agency for the
coordination of atomic energy matters within the Military Establish-

ment, established a sound and comprehensive program covering the

mili*ary aspects of atomic energy, and materially assisted in the

development of close and harmonious relationships between the

Atomic Energy Commission and the Armed Servicesj and

WHEREAS in the role of Chairman of the Munitions Board, he
"has made major contributions toward a more efficient and unlfied
Military Establishment and has greatly advanced the state of our
-materiel readinegs for any national emergency; and

WHEREAS the Munitions Board, under his capable leadership, has
made tremendous strides toward the fulfillment of the missions as-
sighed to it by the National Security Act, including the planning of
the military aspects of industrialimobilization and coordination and

improvement of procirement and related activities within the National
Military Establishment; and

WHEREAS in the capacity of a deputy to the Secretary of Defense
during this entire period, he has performed a great varioty of spec-

1aé and difficult assignments with extreme competence and dispatch;
an -

WHEREAS his wisdom, judgment and patience in the performance of
411 of these roles, have furthered the objectives of unification and
strengthened the security of this nation; and '

WHEREAS the qualities of hia character and personality have won
the lasting friendship, respect and affection of all those who have
worked with him in the National Military Establishment; .-

the War Councii ;nd otﬁ;;tisiéciaies of Donald F, Cérbentéb in]tho
National Military Estadlishment, express our appreciation for his

faithiful and outstanding services and for the wisdom, energy, loy-
alty and devotion to duty which he dbrought to his work; and

- BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that we the undersigned desire to indi-
cate our deep regret that circumstances compel his return to pri-
vate life and wish him Godspeed wherever he may goj and
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BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a copy of this Resolution be made
a part of the permanent records of the War Council of the National
Military Establishment and that a copy thersof he presented to
Donald F, Carpenter
LOUXS JOINSON
Secretary of Defense
GORDON GRAY FRANCIS P, MATTHEWS STEPHEN T, EARLY
Secretary of the Army Secretary of the Navy Under-Secretary of
Defense
OMAR N. BRADLEY LOUIS DENFELD JOSEPH T, McNARNEY
Chief of Staff Admiral~Chief of General - 0ffice of
U. S. Army Naval Operations the Secretary of
: ’ Def'ense
STUART SYMINGTON HOYT B, VANDENBERG DWIGHT D, EISENHOWER
Secretary of the Chief of Staff Chairman - Joint
Alr Force U, S, Air Force Chiefs of Staff
'KARL,T. COMPTON THONAS R, REID JOHN SHERMAN
Chairman-The Research Chairman-Personnel Sacretary of the
and- Development Policy Board War Council
Board ' .
MARX LEVA JOHN A, OHLY W, J, McNeil
Special Assistant to Special Assistant to Special Assistant to
the  Secretary of ~ the Secretary of the Secretary of
Defense Defensge Defense

ALFRED M, GRUENTHER
General . Director of the Joint Staffs,
National Military Eetablishment

1 JULY 1949




FUTURE’ RELFASE PLEASE NOTE DATE

NATIONAL MILITARY FSTABLISHMENT

. OFFICE OF PUBLIC INFORMATION
.s.\\ Washington 25, D.C. .
- MEMORANDUM TO THE PRESS: NO, M~197-49

HOLD FOR RELEASE
UNTIL PRESENTATION

AT 11:30 A M., FRIDAY, JUNE 24, 1949 RE 6700 Ext, 3201.3202

DONALD F, CARPENTER AWARLED
. MME APPRECIATION CERTIFICATE

Secretary of Defense Louls Johnson today presented the Natiomnal
Military Establishment Certificate of Appreciation to Donald F, Care
penter, retiring Chairman of the Munitions Board,

Secretary Johnson cited Mr, Carpenter for "exceptionally meritorious
service to the National Military Establishment" for his work both as
Chairman .of the Military Liaison Committee to the Atomic Energy Commis-
sion and as Chairman of the Munitions Board, The Secretary stated that,
under Mr, Carpenter’s guidance, military atomic energy activities were
materially furthered, He alisn poi:acd out that Mr, Carpenter was faced
with unprecedented problems in his position as Chairman of the Muni-
tions Board and showed "remarkable initiative and zeal in directing

! copprehensive studies and developing effective solutions,"

f \ ' The Certificate of Appreciaticn was presented to Mr, Carpenter in
: Secretary Johnson's office in the presence of officials of the Mili.

tary Edtablishment and other agencies, members of Congress and other
invited guests, ,

Mr, Carpenter is leaving today to return to the E. I. du Pont de

Nemours & Company, Inc,, from which he has been on leave ‘of absence
since April 1948,

The citation stated:

"Donald F, Carpenter, for exceptionally meritorious service to the
National Miljitary Estadlishment from April 8, 1948 to June 24, 1949, At
.the request of the Secretary of Defense, Mr, Carpenter ls ft his civilian
occupation to assume the Chairmanship of the Military Liaisor Committee-
to the Atomic Energy Commission. In this capacity, Mr. Carpenter dc¢-
monstrated unusual tact and ability in developing military atomic en-
ergy programs and under his guidance and direction military atomic en-
ergy activities were materially furthered, In September, 1948, Mr,
Carpenter was appointed by the President to serve as Chafrnan of the

tién, Qibriéé ;hd pfbéﬁrument, ﬁr. Cérﬁehfef éﬁowed rem&fﬁéble initiafiVu
and zeal in directing comprehensive studies and developing effective sol-
utions, His service tn the government is deserving of the highest

N\ pmise 3 Page determined to be Unclassified
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Mrs, Donald F, Carpenter and daughter Judy
Secretary of the Treasury John W, Snyder
Secrotary of Interior Julius A, Krug
Secretary of Commerce Charles Sawyer

(4 LR & LRI N




NEWS ‘RELEASE (Continued)
NME APPRECIATION CERTIFICATE

Secretary of the Army Gordon Gray

Secretary of the Navy Francis P, !llatthews

Secretary of the Air Force W, . Stuart Symington

Senator Millard E. Tydings, Chairman, Senate Armed Services Committee
Representative Carl Vinson, Chairman, House Armed Services Committee
Dr. John R, Steelman, Assistant to the President

Frank Pace, Jr,, Director, Bureau of the Budget

Paul G, no*fman, Adnministrator, Economic Cooperation Administration
Thomas B, McCabe, Chairman, Federal Reserve System

Under Secretary of State James E, Webb

Under Secretary of Defense Stephen T. Early

Under Secretary of the Navy Dan A, Kimball

Under Secretary of the Air Force Arthur S. Darrows

Assistant Secretary of the Army Tracy S. Voorhees

Agsistant Secretary of the Navy John T, Koehler

Agsistant Secretary of the Air Force Eugene M, Zuckert

General Dwight D. Eisenhower, Acting Chairman, Joint Chiefs of Staff
General Omar N, Bradley, Chief of Staff, United States Army

Adwmiral Louis E, Denfeld, Chief of Naval Operations, United States Navy
General Hoyt S, Vandenberg, Chief of Staff, United States Force

Thomas R. Reid, Chairman, Personnel Policy Board

Dr. Karl T, Compton, Chairman, Research and Development Board

Dr, Vannevar Bush Pormer chairman, Research and Development Board
Admiral Lewis L. §trauss, Atomic Energy Commission

General Joseph T. McNarney, USAF, Advisor to Secretary of Defense
Lt.General John E, Hull, Director, Weapons System Evaluation Group.
Lt.General LeRoy Lutes, Director of Staff, Munitions Board

Major General Alfred M, Gruenther, Director, The Joint Staff

Ma jor General Leven C,.Allen, Executive Secretary, 0ffice of Secretq: -
Ma jor General Sidney P, Spalding of Defersa
‘Major General Patrick W, Timberlake
¥ajor General Kenneth D, Nichol:z
Major Gemeral David M, Schiatter .
Brigadier General R, C. Wilson
Rear Admiral Francis C., Denebrink
Rear Admiral Ralph A, Ofstie

Rear Admiral Tom B, Hil1l -
Colonél Paul H, Griffith, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense

Colnnel Louis H. Renfrow, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense
Colonel John H Hinds

Colonel Robert Wood

Captain Herbert D, Riley, USHi Aide to t he Secretary of Defens:

Captain Laurence A, Abercrombie,USK, Assistant to the Secretary of Lefeui:
Captain F, B, Hyde, USN

Marx Leva, Assistant to t he Secretary of Defense

John H, Ohly, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense
“We Jo. McNeil, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense
William Frye, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense

. Harry B BIythe

Ward Canaday
BElliot Chssidy
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